
SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  
Council Chambers, 115 US Highway 17 North, Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
Tuesday, October 28, 2014  6:30 p.m.    
www.surfsidebeach.org  -   (843) 913-6111     (843) 238-5432 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  Notice of Public Hearing on Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance. The Town Council 
of the Town of Surfside Beach, SC will hold a Public Hearing at 6:00 PM on October 28, 2014 at the Town 
Council Chambers, 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, SC 29575 on the amendments recommended by the FEMA 
CRS Committee for adoption by Town Council. Copies of the documents to be considered are available for 
public inspection in the Planning, Building & Zoning Department located at 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, 
SC 29575 and on the Town Website at www.surfsidebeach.org. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE:  Town Council will hold a Visioning Workshop at Brookgreen Gardens on Wednesday and 
Thursday, November 12th and 13th from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  The public is invited to attend. 

 
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AMENDED AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Douglas F. Samples 
 
2.   INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 A.   Invocation:  Rev. Jeff Wood, Oasis of Hope Church  
 B. Pledge of Allegiance:  Mayor Samples 
 

3.   AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
4.   MINUTES APPROVAL  

A.   Regular Meeting October 14, 2014 and Corrections and Addendum to Minutes 
 B. Workshop October 21, 2014 
 

5.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items Only. (3-minutes per speaker) 
 
6.   COMMUNICATIONS 
 A.   Employee Service Award, Willie Carter, 15-years  

B.   Department Reports 
  i. Finance 
  ii. Public Works 
  iii. Special Events and Recreation  
 C.   Administrator’s Report 
     
7.   BUSINESS 
 A. Second Reading of Ordinances 

i.  #14-0786 to Amend Sec. 8-36 (a), “Fireworks” to place a 500 foot “No Fireworks 
Zone” on either side of the pier, Administrator Fellner 

ii. #14-0788 regarding floodplain management in response to CRS requirements 
from FEMA, Director Morris 

iii. #14-0789 Beach Renourishment, Director Morris 
iv. #14-0790 to amend Section 2-186, Deposits and Withdrawals, Administrator 

Feller 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

http://www.surfsidebeach.org/
http://www.surfsidebeach.org/


                Town of Surfside Beach Town Council Meeting 
                Town Council Chambers  October 28, 2014 
                Agenda, Continued 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

7. Business, continued 
B. Consensus Items from October 21st Town Council Workshop and First Reading 

Ordinance #14-0787 to amend Section 9-9 Charges to increase pier parking to $1.50 
per hour; to allow nonresident property owners two (2) free parking decals; to add a trial 
season for selling 100 nonresident parking permits at $100 each, and to codify that 
participants in the Guy Daniels Surfoff shall be issued permits for free parking, 
Administrator Fellner    

 C.    Resolution #14-152 Workplace Safety Support  
 D.   GSATS Recommendations, Director Adair  
 
8.   TOWN COUNCIL DISCUSSION – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by 

Town Council. 
 
9.   PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Comments. (5-minutes per speaker) 
 
10.   TOWN COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
11.   EXECUTIVE SESSION - Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(1) to discuss employment, 

appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion, discipline, or release of an employee, 
or the appointment of a person to a public body 

  
12.   ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 14, 2014 

CORRECTIONS AND ADDENDUM TO MINUTES 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 These corrections and addendum to the October 14, 2014 Town Council Meeting Minutes 1 
are submitted for approval by Town Council.  AAA Transcription Service prepared the minutes 2 
verbatim as requested, but misidentified some speakers, names, and failed to include the meeting 3 
portion after the executive session. 4 
 5 

Current Line 138:  Mayor Samples:  Mr. Childs.  You can relax now, Chief, you did a good job on 6 
your first report.   7 

Correction Line 138:  Mayor Samples:  Mr. Childs.  Mr. Childs:  You can relax now, Chief, you 8 
did a good job on your first report.   9 
 10 
 Current Line 624:  Councilmember Mabry:  They have not met since I’ve been here. 11 
 Correction Line 624:  Director Morris:  They have not met since I’ve been here. 12 
 13 
 Current Line 629:  Councilmember Mabry:  Yes, that is a guarantee. 14 
 Correction Line 629:  Director Morris:  Yes that is a guarantee. 15 
 16 
 Current Line 633:  Councilmember Mabry:  Yes 17 
 Correction Line 633:  Director Morris:  Yes 18 
 19 
 Current Line 637:  Councilmember Mabry:  The hearing can be appealed to circuit court. 20 
 Correction Line 637:  Director Morris:  The hearing can be appealed to Circuit Court. 21 
 22 
 Current Line 641:  Councilmember Mabry:  Yes.  Except the construction board of appeals are 23 
qualified for the construction end of it.  They are architects, contractors. 24 
 Correction Line 641:  Director Morris:  Yes.  Except the construction board of appeals are 25 
qualified for the construction end of it.  They are architects, contractors. 26 
 27 
 Current Line 647:  Councilmember Mabry:  No they do not, it’s out of their scope. 28 
 Correction Line 647:  Director Morris:  No they do not, it’s out of their scope. 29 
 30 
 Current Line 653:  Councilmember Mabry:  No, this is a flood zone, not a zoning ordinance.    31 
 Correction Line 653: Director Morris:  No, this is a flood zone, not a zoning ordinance.   32 
 33 

Current Line 658:  Councilmember Mabry:  Yes.  34 
 Correction Line 658:  Director Morris:  Yes. 35 
 36 

Current Line 809:  … the vote.  All in favor.  First reading is adopted.  37 
 Correction Line 809:  … the vote.  All voted in favor.  First reading is adopted. 38 
 39 

Current Line 890:  And did I want to add that the ordinance that governs this section 11-7B…   40 
Correction Line 890:  Ms. Fellner:  And did I want to add that the ordinance that governs this 41 

section 11-7B…   42 
    43 
 Current Lines 913, 914, 915, 916:  14-151 to repeal 7th Edition and to adopt 8th Edition 44 
Personnel Handbook.  Councilmember Johnson moved to approve.  Councilmember Mabry seconded.  45 
All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.   46 
 Correction Lines 913, 914, 915, 916:  (Transcribed from audio by town clerk.)  Mr. Magliette:  47 
I make a motion.  Mayor Samples:  To suspend the rules?  Mr. Magliette:  to suspend the rules.  Ms. 48 
Mabry:  Second.  Mayor Samples:  All in favor say aye.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 49 
 50 

Current Line 973:  … would like – is there a consensus.   51 
 Correction Line 973:  … would like – is there a consensus? 52 
 53 

Page 1 of 3 
 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 14, 2014 

CORRECTIONS AND ADDENDUM TO MINUTES 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Current Line 994:  Mayor Samples:  And so there would be knowledge or belief on the part of 54 
whoever’s doing the recording that some quote unlawful activity.  Is that fair?  [sic] 55 
 Correction Line 994:  Mayor Samples:  And so there would be knowledge or belief on the part of 56 
whoever’s doing the recording that some quote unlawful activity [end quote].  Is that fair? 57 
 58 

Current Line 1001:  Councilmember Stevens:  I’m going to play devils advocate here.  You 59 
know, 60 
 Correction Line 1001:  Councilmember Johnson:  Mr. Mayor, I’m going to play devil’s advocate 61 
here.  You know,   62 
 63 

Current Line 1238:  consensus to enter into the contract with DDC t for the next phase of 64 
conversion of underground   65 

Correction Line 1001:  consensus to enter into the contract with DDC for the next phase of 66 
conversion of underground   67 
   68 

Current Line 1464:  Councilmember:  That’s correct , [sic] t was based on – Ms. Feller was 69 
working 70 
 Correction Line 1464:  Councilmember Pellegrino:  That’s correct, it was based on – Ms. Fellner 71 
was working 72 
 73 

Current Line 1584:  … the property west of Isaiah Drive and Sandy Lane?  Because we’re 74 
already getting their water. 75 

Correction Line 1584:  … the property west of Azalea Drive and Sandy Lane?  Because we’re 76 
already getting their water. 77 
 78 

Current Line 1630:  … meeting and actually establish her recommendations for that through 79 
liaison, which is still Mr. Stevens, correct? 80 
 Correction Line 1630: …  meeting and actually establish their recommendations for that through 81 
liaison, which is still Mr. Stevens, correct? 82 
 83 

Current Line 1643:  Councilmember Pellegrino:  Yes. 84 
 Correction Line 1643:  Councilmember Stevens:  Yes. 85 
 86 
 After Line 1933 and before adjournment, add: 87 
 88 
 Executive Session 89 
 90 
 Mayor Samples:  I need a motion to enter into executive session.  Mr. Johnson:  Mr. Mayor.  91 
Mayor Samples:  You want to read it?  Go ahead.  Mr. Johnson:  I make a motion that we move into 92 
executive session pursuant FOIA Section 30-4-70(a)(1) and Section 30-4-70(a)(2).  Ms. Mabry:  Second.  93 
Mayor Samples:  There’s a motion that’s be properly seconded by Ms. Mabry.  All in favor say aye.  All 94 
members voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  (Executive session began at 9:09 p.m.) 95 
  96 
 Mayor Samples:  Are you ready?  I need a motion to come back in.  Mr. Johnson:  Mr. Mayor, I 97 
make a motion that we come back into regular session.  Mayor Samples:  There’s a motion on the floor.  98 
Mr. Stevens:  Second.  Mayor Samples:  There’s a second, Mr. Stevens.  All in favor say aye.  All 99 
members voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  Mayor Samples:  There was no action taken in executive 100 
session.  I need a motion.  (Regular session reconvened at 10:58 p.m.) 101 
 102 
 Mr. Johnson:  Yes, I make a motion that we authorize the town administrator to hire a full time 103 
combination flood plain manager/GIS coordinator instead of the part time flood plain manager position 104 
that was budgeted.  Mayor Samples:  There’s a motion on the floor.  Is there a second?  Mr. Magliette:  105 
Second.  Mayor Samples:  Second Mr. Magliette.  Any discussion?  All in favor say aye.  All voted in 106 
favor.    Mayor Samples:  That motion is carried.   107 

Page 2 of 3 
 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 14, 2014 

CORRECTIONS AND ADDENDUM TO MINUTES 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 108 

Current Line 1934:  Mayor moved to adjourn the meeting.  Seconded.  All voted in favor.  109 
MOTION CARRIED. 110 
 Correction Line 1934:  Mr. Johnson:  Mr. Mayor, I make a motion that we adjourn.  Mr. Stevens 111 
second.  Mayor Samples:  There’s a motion Mr. Johnson, second Mr. Stevens.  All in favor say aye.  All 112 
members voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  Mayor Samples:  The meeting is adjourned.  The meeting 113 
adjourned at 10:59 p.m. 114 
 115 
      Prepared by and respectfully submitted, 116 
 117 
 118 
      _____________________________________________  119 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 120 
 121 
Approved:  October 28, 2014 122 
 123 
 124 

____________________________________ 125 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 126 

         127 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 128 
David L. Pellegrino, Mayor Pro Tempore   Robert F. Childs, Town Council    129 
 130 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 131 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Mary M. Mabry, Town Council 132 
 133 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 134 
Ralph J. Magliette, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council  135 
 136 
Clerk’s Note:  This document constitutes corrections and additions to the minutes prepared by AAA 137 
Transcribing and becomes part of the approved minutes as a supplement thereto.  The meeting was 138 
digitally recorded.  Audio recordings are published on the town website after the meeting (approximately 139 
two weeks) until the minutes are approved and published.  You may download the recording to your 140 
personal computer from the website, or bring a flash drive to the town clerk to obtain a copy.  141 
Appointments to hear or to obtain copies of recordings should be scheduled with the town clerk, 142 
telephone 843.913.6333.  In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice and the agenda were distributed to 143 
local media and interested parties. The agenda was posted on the town website, the entry door at Town 144 
Council Chambers, and in the Town Hall reception area.  Meeting notice was also posted on the Town 145 
marquee. 146 
 147 

Page 3 of 3 
 



SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  
Council Chambers, 115 US Highway 17 North, Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
Tuesday, October 28, 2014  6:30 p.m.    
www.surfsidebeach.org  -   (843) 913-6111     (843) 238-5432 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  Notice of Public Hearing on Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance. The Town Council 
of the Town of Surfside Beach, SC will hold a Public Hearing at 6:00 PM on October 28, 2014 at the Town 
Council Chambers, 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, SC 29575 on the amendments recommended by the FEMA 
CRS Committee for adoption by Town Council. Copies of the documents to be considered are available for 
public inspection in the Planning, Building & Zoning Department located at 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, 
SC 29575 and on the Town Website at www.surfsidebeach.org. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE:  Town Council will hold a Visioning Workshop at Brookgreen Gardens on Wednesday and 
Thursday, November 12th and 13th from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  The public is invited to attend. 

 
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Douglas F. Samples 
 
2.   INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 A.   Invocation:  Rev. Jeff Wood, Oasis of Hope Church  
 B. Pledge of Allegiance:  Mayor Samples 
 

3.   AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
4.   MINUTES APPROVAL  

A.   Regular Meeting October 14, 2014 
 B. Workshop October 21, 2014 
 

5.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items Only. (3-minutes per speaker) 
 
6.   COMMUNICATIONS 
 A.   Employee Service Award, Willie Carter, 15-years  

B.   Department Reports 
  i. Finance 
  ii. Public Works 
  iii. Special Events and Recreation  
 C.   Administrator’s Report 
     
7.   BUSINESS 
 A. Second Reading of Ordinances 

i.  #14-0786 to Amend Sec. 8-36 (a), “Fireworks” to place a 500 foot “No Fireworks 
Zone” on either side of the pier, Administrator Fellner 

ii. #14-0788 regarding floodplain management in response to CRS requirements 
from FEMA, Director Morris 

iii. #14-0789 Beach Renourishment, Director Morris 
iv. #14-0790 to amend Section 2-186, Deposits and Withdrawals, Administrator 

Feller 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

http://www.surfsidebeach.org/
http://www.surfsidebeach.org/


                Town of Surfside Beach Town Council Meeting 
                Town Council Chambers  October 28, 2014 
                Agenda, Continued 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

7. Business, continued 
B. Consensus Items from October 21st Town Council Workshop and First Reading 

Ordinance #14-0787 to amend Section 9-9 Charges to increase pier parking to $1.50 
per hour; to allow nonresident property owners two (2) free parking decals; to add a trial 
season for selling 100 nonresident parking permits at $100 each, and to codify that 
participants in the Guy Daniels Surfoff shall be issued permits for free parking, 
Administrator Fellner    

 C.    Resolution #14-152 Workplace Safety Support  
 D.   GSATS Recommendations, Director Adair  
 
8.   TOWN COUNCIL DISCUSSION – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by 

Town Council. 
 
9.   PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Comments. (5-minutes per speaker) 
 
10.   TOWN COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
11.   EXECUTIVE SESSION - Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(1) to discuss employment, 

appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion, discipline, or release of an employee, 
or the appointment of a person to a public body 

  
12.   ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 























































































 

  SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL  1 
  PARKING WORKSHOP MINUTES  2 
  OCTOBER 21, 2014 AT 4:00 P.M. 3 
         TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 
 5 
 6 
 7 
 8 
 CALL TO ORDER.    9 
 10 
 Mayor Samples called the workshop to order at 4:00 P.m.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore 11 
Pellegrino, and Councilmembers Childs, Johnson, Mabry, Magliette, and Stevens were in attendance.  A 12 
quorum was present.  Others present:  Administrator Fellner; Town Clerk Herrmann; Finance Director 13 
King; Public Works Director Adair.  Parking Committee Chairman Kohlmann and members Dodge and 14 
Hunt were also present.      15 
 16 
 Ms. Fellner gave a brief PowerPoint presentation to remind Town Council and the Parking 17 
committee of the actions and concurrences previously made. 18 
 19 
 1.  Remove all (41) meters on east side of Ocean Boulevard.  Consensus at September 8th 20 
workshop; motion approved at September 23rd regular Town Council meeting, with an amendment to 21 
prohibit all parking on the east side of Ocean Boulevard. 22 
 23 
 2.  Remove 24 meters from the west side of Ocean Boulevard on the intersection corners.  24 
Passed by consensus and motion with an amendment to remove all meters on Ocean Boulevard, except 25 
those located between 16th and 17th Avenues North, and to allow parking on the west side of the 26 
boulevard, subject to further council action. 27 
 28 
 3.  Nonresident parking passes recommendation for trial 100 passes at $100 each for one year to 29 
be reassessed after completion of the trial period.  Passed by consensus and motion.   30 
 31 
 4.  Free beach access areas.  The recommendation for Option 2 to charge at the seven premium 32 
crossovers failed. 33 
 34 
 5.  No parking signs on Dogwood South between 6th and 7th, and asking SCDOT (South Carolina 35 
Department of Transportation) to place addition no parking signs on the south side of Melody Lane 36 
between Ocean Boulevard and Hollywood Drive.  Passed by consensus and motion. 37 
 38 
 6.  Guy Daniels Surfoff Event recommendation to allow free parking for participants and all other 39 
parking rules remain in effect.  Passed by consensus and motion. 40 
 41 
 7.  Recommendation by staff to increase only the pier parking rate to $1.50 per hour. Passed by 42 
consensus and motion. 43 
 44 
 Note:  “Passed by consensus and motion” in numbers 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 refers to same dates set 45 
forth in number 1.   46 
 47 
 Ms. Fellner said that Town Council should also consider whether rates would increase 48 
proportionately for pier daily and weekly rates when the proposed ordinance was discussed. 49 
 50 
 Ms. Mabry wanted council to be aware that land was cleared across the street for 488 high 51 
density units.  Wicked Stick golf course will be building high density condominiums.  Not only will that 52 
construction impact water runoff, those new residents will place a burden on the town’s resources.  She 53 
did not oppose removing the meters, but council needed to know that facts.  Revenue from the meters on 54 
Seaside Drive and Ocean Boulevard equated to $67,215 gross in five years.  If they were taking this 55 

Page 1 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
revenue away, she asked what would be given back; free parking concerned her.  The town paid a lot for 56 
the meters and she would like to see them used somewhere. 57 
 58 
 Mayor Samples asked if Town Council wished to continue free parking for residents in town.  All 59 
members CONCURRED.   60 
 61 
 Mr. Magliette said the town is a gem and said there were multiple zones to protect its residents.  62 
He feels the town has a good balance not found in other places, without density problems experienced in 63 
Myrtle Beach or the high rise building problems in Garden City.  Visitors come to town, because they like 64 
the family beach.  Council should protect its town, because too much density will cause tourists to go 65 
other places.  He asked how many people could the town really accommodate during the peak season, 66 
and asked if high density would destroy the quality of life in the town.  In his opinion, there was a limit to 67 
how many people the beach could handle comfortably.  Mr. Magliette fully understood the financial 68 
implications, and that people want to come to the beach. His responsibility is to protect the little gem 69 
known as Surfside Beach, taking small steps to find the balance point.  The town may not recover if 70 
things move too quickly. 71 
 72 
 Ms. Mabry agreed with Mr. Magliette 100-percent.  Allowing free parking everywhere doesn’t 73 
injure anyone coming to the beach.  Visitors will come as long as there is somewhere to park.  If meters 74 
are removed, which she is fine with doing so, at least save the west side of Ocean Boulevard for resident 75 
parking, then maybe the residents would not fill the metered spaces that visitors could use.  That would 76 
give the residents something in return for taking the revenue away from them. 77 
 78 
 Mr. Magliette said the east side of Ocean Boulevard has parking prohibited.  Why would anyone 79 
pay to park in a lot, if parking was available on Ocean Boulevard for free?  Ms. Mabry brought that 80 
question up prior to his being seated on council, and did not receive a second, and was denied the 81 
courtesy of discussing the issue.  She has always said meters should be removed from the east side of 82 
the boulevard.  Mr. Magliette said some of the ideas were very good, but he did not like radical change.  83 
The parking should be monitored for a year to collect data and allow time to hear from the public.  84 
 85 
 Mr. Johnson asked what Mr. Magliette would recommend.  Mr. Magliette thought that most of the 86 
parking workshop recommendations he voted for were a good first step.  Those were the type things he 87 
would endorse, and reiterated waiting to gather data before moving forward.  Some of the consensus 88 
items presented at the council meeting were completely changed, which caused him confusion.  He 89 
wanted to reach consensus on these matters and move forward.  A long-range goal might be worth 90 
considering; it did not all have to be done today.  Mr. Johnson totally agreed with Mr. Magliette.  He did 91 
not want to eliminate parking on Ocean Boulevard.  He welcomed suggestions for keeping it, including 92 
just allowing parking on the west side.  He also supported allowing parking on the east side. 93 
 94 
 Mr. Stevens said during the January 22, 2013 Parking Committee Chairman Kohlmann and 95 
Member Maruca asked why 136 meters were being placed on the boulevard, because the committee only 96 
recommended 30, at most 50 meters.  He never discussed that number with anyone, and did not know 97 
how it came about, although Town Council approved the number unanimously.  In his opinion, several 98 
current members campaigned to remove meters from Ocean Boulevard, and others lost their seats, 99 
because they were blamed for 136 meters, which they never put on there.  The fact is the meters were 100 
removed from Ocean Boulevard.  He did not believe the parking committee ever wanted meters on 101 
Ocean Boulevard.  He suggest that Ocean Boulevard become a greenway.  Mayor Samples said to clarify 102 
that Mr. Stevens was saying remove the meters and make the boulevard a greenway, along which 103 
parking would be prohibited.  Mr. Stevens said that was right.  Mr. Stevens said 12 years ago he was able 104 
to find free parking in Charleston, which is like a big Surfside with many towns all around it.  The last time 105 
he was in Charleston, those same places were now parking by permit only.  There was no free parking. 106 
He did not support free parking, and predicted that eventually parking meters would be placed throughout 107 
the town.         108 
 109 
 Mr. Pellegrino, said a key piece of information was still missing.  He asked Ms. Fellner for an 110 
update on the parking lot cooperative contracts.  Ms. Fellner said the matter was turned over to John 111 

Page 2 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
Jerow.  She just completed a revision of the contract drawn up by town attorney Mike Battle.   Because it 112 
is a contractual matter, she preferred not to state details in public.   113 
 114 

Mayor Samples asked how many potential spaces were possible.  Ms. Fellner said 67 parking 115 
spaces in the two lots being negotiated.   Mayor Samples said those spaces would be limited to paid 116 
parking.  Ms. Fellner said yes; residents with parking permits decals could not park free in these lots.   117 
 118 

Mr. Childs said there are 45 meters between 16th and 17th Avenues North and 36 meters at 13th 119 
Avenue South that are not being used.  He thought ways to utilize those parking areas should be 120 
developed, which would more than offset the expected loss.  Mr. Stevens agreed wholeheartedly and 121 
reiterated that the lots were not being used.  Mr. Childs thought the parking committee should consider 122 
signage.   123 
 124 

Mayor Samples said the town currently has signage as recommended by the committee that he 125 
would like to see removed.  The only sign that actually directs traffic to parking is the one on Surfside 126 
Drive.  He was not sure that advertising the beach so prominently was beneficial to the town during some 127 
of the annual events along the Grand Strand.  As already mentioned, the town cannot handle large 128 
crowds, particularly late at night.  The council agrees there is a parking problem; why are there signs on 129 
Highway 17 pointing people to beach parking.  In his opinion, it was inconsistent.   130 
 131 
 Mr. Childs asked why the sign on Surfside Drive could not also include information about other 132 
parking lots.  Mayor Samples said it made sense to him that way finding signs be placed in the existing 133 
parking lots showing visitors where other lots were located to redirect them when lots are full.  134 
 135 
 Mr. Kohlmann said the committee did not want any parking on Ocean Boulevard, because of 136 
safety, aesthetics and revenue.  If parking is prohibited on Ocean Boulevard, the people may use the 137 
underutilized lots.  It is a fact that if parking is free on Ocean Boulevard, people will park where it is free 138 
instead of using the lots.  Almost every single recommendation made by the committee is supported. The 139 
way-finding signs were not installed properly; they are too close to the intersections.     140 

  141 
(** Several speaking at once.) 142 

 143 
 Mayor Samples referred to the information provided by Ms. Fellner saying there was a consensus 144 
to go through the items to reaffirm or alter what was discussed before.  145 
 146 
 1.  Stickers for nonresidential property owners.  All members CONCURRED. 147 
  148 

2.  Removal of 41 east side meters and prohibit all parking on the east side of Ocean 149 
Boulevard.    Mayor Pro Tempore Pellegrino, and Councilmembers Childs, Johnson, Mabry, Magliette 150 
and Stevens CONCURRED.  Mayor Samples was against.  151 
  152 

3.  Removal of all west side meters, except those between 16th and 17th Avenues North, 153 
and to allow free parking on the west side of Ocean Boulevard.   Councilmembers Childs, Mabry, 154 
Magliette and Stevens were against.  Mr. Pellegrino said a decision must be made based on the 155 
information available now.  Ms. Mabry said offering free parking next door to a pay-to-park lot would 156 
probably keep property owners from doing business with the town.  Mr. Pellegrino said if the lots are 157 
successfully negotiated he did not want free parking.  Ms. Mabry asked how that would work if the 158 
ordinance allowed free parking.  Mr. Kohlmann said this would also damage the town; who would pay 159 
when they could park closer to the beach for free.  He suggest restricted parking.  Mr. Magliette preferred 160 
to go back to the original consensus to removal all west side meters, except those between 16th and    161 
17th Avenues North and delete the rest.  Mr. Pellegrino spoke with many people that wanted to eliminate 162 
the meters, but the town needs to be careful, because of the lot negotiations, which would replace the 163 
parking places on Ocean Boulevard.  But, if the lot negotiations are not successful, people will need 164 
somewhere to park.  Ms. Mabry suggested using the west side of Ocean Boulevard for residential 165 
parking.  Mr. Childs agreed.  Mayor Samples asked if that would be for vehicles and golf carts.  Mr. Childs 166 
said yes, any vehicle with a town issued parking permit.  Mr. Pellegrino said parking by permit only would 167 

Page 3 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
be a compromise.  He thought that might create a mess, although residents would be happy.  He 168 
questioned whether businesses would be happy.  Mayor Samples was in favor of removing west side 169 
meters and allowing free parking like it used to be.  Mr. Stevens disagreed, because it created another 170 
safety issue, which was one reason there were problems on Ocean Boulevard.  Without some type 171 
control, people park any and everywhere.  Mayor Samples asked for consensus.  Mr. Childs said remove 172 
the meters and allow resident parking by permit only on the west side.  Mr. Pellegrino asked if members 173 
could decide on the two parts.   174 
 175 

Mayor Samples asked who supported removing meters on the west side of Ocean Boulevard, 176 
except those located between 16th and 17th Avenues North.  All CONCURRED.  Mayor Samples asked 177 
who supported parking.  Mayor Samples and Councilmembers Johnson and Mabry supported parking.  178 
Mayor Samples said there was not a majority to support “wide open” parking.   179 

 180 
Mayor Samples asked who supported permit only parking on the west side of the boulevard.  (**)  181 

Mr. Stevens asked if permit parking only signs were available.  Mr. Adair said they could be delivered in 182 
about two weeks.  Ms. Mabry said that Mayor Samples and Mr.  Pellegrino brought up a good 183 
point…what about the businesses and overflow parking.  There has to be a way to get temporary permits 184 
for tourists that are residents for a week.  Mr. Kohlmann asked how many renters used the permits last 185 
year.  Ms. Fellner said very few.  Mayor Samples said realtors were paying the parking tickets for their 186 
renters.  Mr. Dodge said renters are provided parking at the houses where they rent.   187 

 188 
Mr. Magliette hoped that if restricted parking was approved, the public would pay to park in the 189 

lots.  This would be good data to see if the change induces people to those underutilized lots.  Mr. 190 
Johnson said the permit only restriction may also promote the sale of permits to nonresidents.  Mr. 191 
Pellegrino believed this would cause an uproar in the lodging community.  (**)  Mr. Stevens asked why.  192 
Mr. Pellegrino said it limits flexibility on tourist businesses.  His vision down the road is that by next 193 
summer there is no parking on Ocean Boulevard.  He did not know if that was feasible, but believed it 194 
was the right action.  Council was making decisions that placed “handcuffs” on the tourist business, which 195 
was where the bulk of the town’s revenue was generated. 196 

 197 
Mayor Samples asked again who supported permit parking only on the west side of Ocean 198 

Boulevard.  Councilmembers Childs, Mabry, Magliette and Stevens in favor.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro 199 
Tempore Pellegrino and Councilmember Johnson against.  Majority CONCURRED.         200 

 201 
 4.  Nonresident parking permits, 100 passes at $100 each. Concurrence and motion 202 
adopted by Town Council.  All members CONCURRED. 203 
 204 
 5.   Premium access areas, Option 2 designating seven premium access areas to be 205 
metered.  Motion failed at Town Council Meeting.  Mr. Childs supported metering spaces at the 206 
premium beach accesses, which would create a revenue stream.  Mr. Pellegrino said a fence was being 207 
put around Surfside again.  Mr. Kohlmann said rental agencies and tourists pay $250 or more a week for 208 
a golf cart rental.  If the agencies buy a $100 permit, that is less than $10 a week.  The agencies were 209 
making a lot of money off the tourists.  The recommendation was made because many accesses are over 210 
packed that creates wear and tear, and increase water costs, and lifeguard services.  This would just 211 
create a little more revenue to help the town.  He said 50-percent of the beach access use is by day-212 
trippers and they should contribute something towards the amenities.  Councilmembers Childs, Mabry 213 
support meters in the premium accesses.    Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tem Pellegrino, and 214 
Councilmembers Johnson, Magliette and Stevens were against.  MOTION FAILED STANDS.   215 
 216 
 6.  No parking signs on Dogwood South between 6th and 7th, and asking SCDOT to place 217 
additional signs on the south side of Melody Lane extending from Hollywood Drive to Ocean 218 
Boulevard.  Mayor Pro Tempore Pellegrino, and Councilmembers Childs, Mabry, Magliette and Stevens 219 
supported.  Mayor Samples and Councilmember Johnson were against.  Majority CONCURRED.     220 
 221 

Page 4 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
 7.  Guy Daniels event recommendation to issue free parking permits to event participants, 222 
all other parking rules to remain in effect.  Concurred and adopted by Town Council.  All members 223 
CONCURRED. 224 
 225 
 8.  Recommendation to raise parking rate to $1.50 in pier parking lot only.  Concurred and 226 
adopted by Town Council.  All members CONCURRED. 227 
 Ms. Fellner asked if Town Council wished to adjust the daily and weekly rates at the pier parking 228 
lot, since the hourly rate changed.  After much discussion, Town Council CONCURRED to leave the daily 229 
and weekly rates at the current rates of $8 per day and $40 per week.  230 
  231 
 Mayor Samples said for the record “that we consider removing the parking signs on Highway 17.  232 
Do you agree or disagree?  You know and that way I’ll quit talking about it.  But, I think the parking signs 233 
on 17 (**) unnecessary (**) because when you, we got ‘em on Melody.  We got ‘em on [10th] Avenue 234 
South, Surfside Drive, 5th Avenue North, and 16th.  If any of ‘em, 16th is the only one that probably has 235 
merit, but again, I have other concerns associated with those signs along 17.”  Mr. Kohlmann said the 236 
signs were a recommendation to help direct people to the parking lots.  If they did not work, they should 237 
be removed.  He personally just saw the signs a few weeks ago.  (** Several speaking at once.)  Mayor 238 
Samples was not sure that during certain events that the town wanted to advertise where its beach is.  239 
Mr. Childs agreed with Mayor Samples.  Mr. Pellegrino asked whether the signs would be repositioned to 240 
another location where they would have added value.  Mayor Samples said Mr. Adair would remove 241 
them; if they could be used elsewhere, they would be installed.  All members CONCURRED to remove 242 
the parking way-finding signs along Highway 17. 243 
 244 
 Ms. Fellner said during these discussions Seaside Drive needs to be addressed.  Mr. Childs and 245 
Ms. Mabry thought Seaside Drive was addressed.  (**several speaking at once.) Mr. Childs said there 246 
would be no meters and anybody can park there for free.  Ms. Mabry said not many people could park 247 
there, except for the homeowners.  Mayor Samples said according to the information council received, 248 
there were 19 meters on the north end… (**)  Mr. Childs said residents and visitors along Seaside Drive 249 
do not have any overflow parking.  Usually when there is a six bedroom house, there are six cars there.  250 
Seaside should be left alone; there have not been any complaints from the residents in the area.   Mr. 251 
Kohlmann said the town would lose at least $4,000 by this action, and from the nearby parking lots.  252 
When people find out there is free parking on Seaside, they will park there instead of the pay for parking 253 
lots.  Mr. Childs said the renters would take spaces as soon as they were available.   254 
 255 

Ms. Mabry said these houses rent for a lot of money.  As a general rule, the better rental 256 
companies will say how many parking spaces are available.  If additional cars are brought, there is a $40 257 
week charge.  Realty companies offer linens, grills, golf carts, etc. and extra parking is easy to add to the 258 
bill.  She supported removing meters from Seaside.  Plaques could be offered for tenants on Seaside.  259 
Mr. Magliette liked Ms. Mabry’s suggestion.  Premium spaces should be protected so tenants can enjoy 260 
their vacations and their cars will be protected.   261 

 262 
Mayor Samples called for concurrence to eliminate the meters on Seaside Drive and restrict 263 

parking to tenants and/or homeowners.  Ms. Mabry believed extra cars should purchase parking.  She 264 
suggested contacting all the rental agencies to hear their opinions.  Mayor Samples said he, Mr. Smith 265 
and Ms. Fellner met with large realty companies without much success.  Ms. Fellner said that was when 266 
the service companies list was developed.  This matter has not been discussed with them.  Mr. Johnson 267 
and Mr. Pellegrino did not agree with any additional charges on Seaside, although Mr. Pellegrino agreed 268 
with removing the meters.  Mayor Samples agreed with the general idea, but wanted to make it available 269 
in a general sense of adequate parking for the businesses that pay the bills in town; not just parking for 270 
Seaside housing.   271 

 272 
Mr. Pellegrino said 84-percent of the town’s revenue is generated by tourist traffic, which pays for 273 

the services like fire and police.  Of the people he fires in his business, 99-percent have committed 274 
egregious customer service.  The town should make sure its tourists are pleased and want to return next 275 
year.  Ms. Mabry said the town has more lifeguards per square foot than any other area in Grand Strand; 276 
more bathrooms; more showers; the nicest crossovers, and you are one minute away from police and fire 277 

Page 5 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
protection.  The town has every amenity that every other beach will fight for any day.  Garden City 278 
businesses hate the town, because they have parking everywhere, people do what they want…Garden 279 
City gets the people that do not want to pay.  The town gets tourists that appreciate its amenities.  We 280 
take some of that money to maintain the facilities and make the town a place you want to come.  The 281 
town is head and shoulders above other places.   282 

 283 
Mayor Samples asked again for concurrence that Seaside Drive would have meters removed and 284 

free parking.   Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore Pellegrino and Councilmembers Childs, Johnson, 285 
and Stevens in favor.  Councilmembers Mabry and Magliette were against.  Majority CONCURRED.  286 
      287 
 Ms. Fellner said the draft ordinance was presented so councilmembers could discuss it, if 288 
necessary.  There are not too many things effected.  Mr. Johnson said the ordinance was cut and dry.  289 
Mr. Stevens asked how vehicles could be directed to meters during special events, and to consider 290 
placing meters on certain side streets.  Mr. Pellegrino and Mr. Johnson totally disagreed.  Ms. Mabry said 291 
that was brought up about six months ago, and no second was offered.  Mr. Magliette reiterated that the 292 
town should take small steps and revisit later; he opposed making too many radical changes at once.  293 
 294 
 Mayor Samples said to sum up that meters are going to be removed from Ocean Boulevard, 295 
except for those located between 16th and 17th Avenues North by the Holiday Inn.  Ms. Fellner said the 296 
ordinance would be presented at the next meeting, and a list of concurrences made at this workshop for 297 
confirmation at the regular meeting.  Mayor Samples said that anytime parking was prohibited, it should 298 
be clearly stated in the record.  Mr. Kohlmann asked if the lines of sight at corners on Ocean Boulevard 299 
would be addressed, because of the safety concerns.  Mr. Johnson and Ms. Mabry said that council had 300 
already agreed to eliminate those 24 spaces.  Mayor Samples wanted to be certain signage was clear to 301 
avoid writing tickets when the public had not been informed. 302 
 303 
 Mr. Pellegrino asked if Ms. Fellner could schedule another workshop once the lot negotiations 304 
were done, because that would change a lot of what was decided at this meeting.  Mayor Samples said 305 
absolutely.  (**several speaking at once.)  306 
 307 
 Mayor Samples asked if there was general agreement that in the parking lots themselves would 308 
be a good point of departure for signage that states additional parking was located at various addresses.  309 
All members CONCURRED.   Mayor Samples said visitors at Fuller Park yesterday had no idea that All 310 
Children’s Park was in town, which supports the need for public education and way finding signs. 311 
 312 
 Mr. Adair said other towns have acknowledged premium parking by having lower rates at the 313 
meters farther back from the beach.  He recommended lowering the rate at the meters at the Holiday Inn 314 
and the 13th Avenue South lot to $1.00 or 75-cents per hour with appropriate signage so tourist will know 315 
where to park for less, if they don’t mind walking.  The lower rate creates a better chance that the lots 316 
would be used.  Mayor Samples said that was a good suggestion.  Ms. Mabry suggested trying it for the 317 
next season.  Mr. Magliette said the town needs to find ways to fill the lots; this might work.  Mr. Pellegrino 318 
said it would also spread people along the beach.   319 
 320 
      Mr. Hunt believed over-sized golf carts should be redirected to regular parking lots, because they take 321 
up multiple spaces and create hazards when they are in golf cart parking spots.  Mr. Pellegrino had seen 322 
the same problems, but did not have a solution.  Mr. Child suggested an area designated for over-sized 323 
golf carts.  Mayor Samples said in the Yaupon lot and asked if golf cart parking filled up in the Yaupon lot.  324 
Mr. Kohlmann said only during events.  Mayor Samples asked if the lot continue being used as it is.  Mr. 325 
Kohlmann said it should be changed, but cars would not fit.  Mr. Stevens suggested compact cars.  Mayor 326 
Samples asked staff to bring options to council to optimize the spaces. 327 
 328 
 Mr. Kohlmann said the price adjustment had not been considered, but in his opinion, the town 329 
should wait one more year.  With the loss of paid parking on Ocean Boulevard, people may go into the 330 
paid lots first.  If not, the council could act.  Several members agreed with Mr. Kohlmann’s suggestion. 331 
After additional discussion, council CONCURRED to wait until after next season before lowering the 332 
rates. 333 

Page 6 of 7 
 



Town Council Workshop 
October 21, 2014 

 
 334 
 Mayor Samples asked if trailer parking was provided during bike week events.  Mr. Kohlmann 335 
said it wasn’t advertised enough.  (**several speaking at once.)  Mr. Magliette said the Surfside United 336 
Methodist Church offered free bike parking last year.  He would find out if the church would offer it again 337 
this year.  Mr. Kohlmann said the goal was to get the trailers off the road, because they block line of site. 338 
 339 
 Mayor Samples asked if everyone was happy with the one-way street.  Mr. Kohlmann spoke with 340 
the resident on that street who actually suggested it be made one-way and thought it was working well.  341 
The streets by Scotty’s and Surfside Realty did not have too much impact.  (**)  Mayor Samples asked if 342 
the one-way streets should be left as they are.  There was no consensus on one-way streets.  343 
  344 
 ADJOURNMENT.   345 
 346 
 Mayor Samples declared the meeting adjourned at 5:44 p.m. 347 
 348 
      Prepared and submitted by, 349 
 350 
      _____________________________________________  351 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 352 
Approved:     353 

 354 
____________________________________ 355 

Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 356 
         357 

_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 358 
David L. Pellegrino, Mayor Pro Tempore   Robert F. Childs, Town Council    359 
 360 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 361 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Mary Beth Mabry, Town Council 362 
 363 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 364 
Ralph J. Magliette, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council  365 

 366 
 367 

Clerk's Note:  This document constitutes summary minutes of the workshop that was digitally recorded.  368 
Appointments to hear recordings may be scheduled with the town clerk, or you may bring a flash drive to 369 
obtain a copy of the audio recording.  In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice was distributed to local 370 
media and interested parties. Workshop notice was posted at the entry door at Town Council Chambers, 371 
and in the Town Hall reception area and on the Town marquee.       372 

Page 7 of 7 
 









































Decision Paper  
Written By:  Sabrina Morris, Director of Planning, Building & Zoning  10/28/14 
 

1. SUBJECT: Ordinance Number 14-0788 
2. FOR: Amendments to the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance     
3. PURPOSE: To establish a more stringent Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance in 

anticipation of the updated FEMA maps that are scheduled to be introduced in February of 
2015.  To promote a safer community against flood hazards within our town and prevent loss 
of property and promote life safety.   

4. ASSUMPTIONS: By establishing more stringent requirements within the town, structures 
and property will have greater protection against flooding    

5. FACTS: 
a. The town is a member of the Community Rating System.  The CRS promotes and 

recognizes communities that implement floodplain management practices that exceed 
the federal minimum requirements of the NFIP to provide protection from flooding.  

b. Communities that are members of the CRS may see results in flood insurance rate 
discounts to reflect the reduced flood risk.  

c. Changes proposed in the Flood ordinance will help improve the town’s CRS Rating, 
but also reduce the risk of damage to structures if there were a storm or flooding 
occurrence.   

d. The town has held several workshops to inform the citizens, contractors and general 
public of the proposed amendments to the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance.   

e. The FEMA CRS Committee has assisted in the amendments of the ordinance and 
recommends the changes being presented. 

f. Staff received approval of the proposed changes from the FEMA State Floodplain 
Coordinator, Maria Lamm on August 21, 2014.   

g. First Reading was unanimously approved by Town Council on October 14, 2014. 
h. A Public Hearing was scheduled for tonight, October 28, 2014 at 6:00PM. 

6. IMPACT OF SUCCESS OR FAILURE:  Not only will the amendments help improve the 
CRS Rating within the town, the changes will also encourage better flood damage prevention 
in all areas of the town, not just the SFHA.  By prohibiting fill and slab on grade construction 
the town is promoting a safer and more resilient community from natural flood disasters and 
stormwater drainage problems on surrounding properties in the town.   

7. RECOMMENDATION:  Approve ordinance as submitted. 
8. RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION: It is the purpose of the proposed ordinance 

to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to minimize public and private 
loses due to flood conditions in the town.  

  



- DRAFT -  
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH 
    )  
COUNTY OF HORRY  )  TO AMEND THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH  
    )   
TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH )  FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION ORDINANCE 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in council duly assembled desires 
to amend the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the town council anticipates receiving updated FEMA flood maps in the near future and 
desires to take a proactive approach to those anticipated changes by adopting more stringent requirements to 
promote a resilient community from flood damage; and  
 

WHEREAS, the town is a member of the Community Rating System which recognizes communities for 
implementing floodplain management practices that exceed the federal minimum requirements of the NFIP to 
provide protection from flooding. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance be 
amended as adopted by reference as if fully set forth herein.    
 
 SEVERABILITY.  If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to any person or circumstances shall be held invalid, that invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of 
this article, which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of 
this article are declared to be severable. 
 
 EFFECT OF SECTION HEADINGS.  The headings or titles of the sections hereof shall be solely for 
convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretation or effect of this ordinance. 
 
 REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this ordinance are 
hereby repealed.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval at second reading by the Town 
Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina. 
 
 BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, South 
Carolina, in assembly and by the authority thereof, this ___ day of _______ 2014. 
 
 

______________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
David L. Pellegrino, Mayor Pro Tempore                           Robert F. Childs, Town Council  
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council     Mary Beth Mabry, Town Council 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Ralph J. Magliette, Town Council    Randle Stevens, Town Council 
 
 
       Attest: 
 
       ______________________________________ 
       Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 
  



- DRAFT -  
Chapter 14 - FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION  
ARTICLE I. - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
ARTICLE II. - VARIANCE PROCEDURES 
ARTICLE III. - STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 

 

ARTICLE I. - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec. 14-1. - Statutory authorization. 
Sec. 14-2. - Findings of fact. 
Sec. 14-3. - Statement of purpose and objectives. 
Sec. 14-4. - Lands to which this chapter applies. 
Sec. 14-5. - Establishment of development permit. 
Sec. 14-6. - Compliance. 
Sec. 14-7. - Interpretation. 
Sec. 14-8. - Partial invalidity and severability. 
Sec. 14-9. - Warning and disclaimer of liability. 
Sec. 14-10. - Penalties for violation. 
Sec. 14-11. - Definition interpretation. 
Sec. 14-12. - Definitions. 
Sec. 14-13. - Designation of local administrator. 
Sec. 14-14. - Development permit and certification requirements. 
Sec. 14-15. - Duties and responsibilities of the local administrator. 
Sec. 14-16. - Administrative procedures. 
Sec. 14-17. - Flood hazard reduction standards. 
Sec. 14-18. - Specific standards. 
Sec. 14-19. – Standards for areas outside of the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). 
Sec. 14-20. - Standards for subdivision proposals. 
Sec. 14-21. - Standards for areas of shallow flooding (AO zones). 
 Sec. 14-22. - Coastal high hazard areas V, VE, or V130 or Coastal A zone 
 
Sec. 14-1. - Statutory authorization. 

The Legislature of the State of South Carolina has in S.C. Code of Laws, Title 5, Chapters 7, 23 
and 25 (Articles 5 and 7) and Title 6, Chapter 7, and amendments thereto, delegated the 
responsibility to local governmental units to adopt regulations designed to promote the public 
health, safety, and general welfare of its citizenry. Therefore, the mayor and council of the Town 
of Surfside Beach, South Carolina does ordain as follows:  

Sec. 14-2. - Findings of fact. 

The flood hazard areas of the Town of Surfside Beach are subject to periodic inundation which 
results in loss of life, property, health, and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and 
governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures of flood protection and relief, and 
impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety, and general 
welfare.  

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR.html
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIISTMA.html
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-1STAU
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-2FIFA
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-3STPUOB
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-5ESDEPE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-6CO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-7IN
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-8PAINSE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-9WADILI
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-10PEVI
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-11DEIN
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-12DE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-13DELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-14DEPECERE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-16ADPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-17FLHAREST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-19STSTWIESBAFLELFL
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-20STSUPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-21STARSHFLAOZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOLICOOR_CH7HESA.html%23VOLICOOR_CH7HESA


- DRAFT -  
Furthermore, these flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstruction in floodplains 
causing increased flood heights and velocities, and by the occupancy in flood hazard areas by 
uses vulnerable to floods or hazardous to other lands which are inadequately elevated, flood 
proofed, or otherwise unprotected from flood damage.  

Sec. 14-3. - Statement of purpose and objectives. 

It is the purpose of this chapter to protect human life and health, minimize property damage, and 
encourage appropriate construction practices to minimize public and private losses due to flood 
conditions by requiring that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities which serve such uses, 
be protected against flood damage at the time of initial construction. Uses of the floodplain 
which are dangerous to health, safety, and property due to water or erosion hazards, or which 
increase flood heights, velocities, or erosion are restricted or prohibited. The provisions attempt 
to control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural protective barriers 
which are involved in the accommodation of floodwaters, and control filling, grading, dredging 
and other development which may increase flood damage or erosion. Additionally, the article 
prevents or regulates the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert floodwaters 
or which may increase flood hazards to other lands.  

The objectives of this chapter are to protect human life and health, to help maintain a stable tax 
base by providing for the sound use and development of flood prone areas in such a manner as to 
minimize flood blight areas, and to insure that potential home buyers are notified that property is 
in a flood area. The provisions of the article are intended to minimize damage to public facilities 
and utilities such as water and gas mains, electric, telephone, and sewer lines, streets and bridges 
located in the floodplain, and prolonged business interruptions. Also, an important floodplain 
management objective of this chapter is to minimize expenditures of public money for costly 
flood control projects and rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding.  

Floodplains are an important asset to the community. They perform vital natural functions such 
as temporary storage of floodwaters, moderation of peak flood flows, maintenance of water 
quality, groundwater recharge, prevention of erosion, and habitat for diverse natural wildlife 
populations, recreational opportunities, and aesthetic quality. These functions are best served if 
floodplains are kept in their natural state. Wherever possible, the natural characteristics of 
floodplains and their associated wetlands, especially floodways and stream channels, should be 
the result of careful planning processes which evaluate resource conditions and human needs.  

Sec. 14-4. - Lands to which this chapter applies. 

This chapter shall apply to all areas of special flood hazard within the jurisdiction of Surfside 
Beach as identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in its flood insurance study, 
date September 17, 2003, as published by the Federal Emergency Management Act, with 
accompanying flood insurance rate maps and other supporting data which are hereby adopted by 
reference and declared to be a part of this chapter. Upon annexation any special flood hazard 
areas identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in its flood insurance study for 
the unincorporated areas of Horry County, with accompanying map and other data are adopted 
by reference and declared part of this chapter.  

Non-Residential and Residential structures must be constructed so that the lowest floor, 
including basements if permitted, is located no lower than the base flood elevation plus 3 feet.  



- DRAFT -  
No environmentally conditioned space shall be allowed below the lowest floor. Floodproofing 
shall not be permitted within the town. 

This chapter shall also apply to areas outside of the special flood hazard areas as prescribed in 
Section 14-19.  

Sec. 14-5. - Establishment of development permit. 

A development permit shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this chapter prior 
to the commencement of any development activities.  

Sec. 14-6. - Compliance. 

No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted, or structurally altered 
without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.  

Sec. 14-7. - Interpretation. 

In the interpretation and application of this chapter, all provisions shall be considered as 
minimum requirements liberally construed in favor of the governing body, and deemed neither to 
limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state law. This chapter is not intended to repeal, 
abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed restrictions. However, where this 
chapter and another conflict or overlap, which imposes the more stringent restrictions shall 
prevail.  

Sec. 14-8. - Partial invalidity and severability. 

If any part of this chapter is declared invalid, the remainder of the chapter shall not be affected 
and shall remain in force.  

Sec. 14-9. - Warning and disclaimer of liability. 

The degree of flood protection required by this chapter is considered reasonable for regulatory 
purposes and is based on scientific and engineering consideration. Larger floods can and will 
occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by manmade or natural causes. This 
chapter does not imply that land areas outside the areas of special flood hazard or uses permitted 
within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages. This chapter shall not create a 
liability on the part of Surfside Beach or by any officer or employee thereof for any flood 
damages that result from reliance on this chapter or any administrative decision lawfully made 
hereunder.  

Sec. 14-10. - Penalties for violation. 

Violation of the provisions of this chapter or failure to comply with any of its requirements, 
including violation of conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of 
variance or special exceptions, shall constitute a misdemeanor. Any person or corporation who 
violates this chapter or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall, upon conviction 
thereof, be fined not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00), or imprisoned for not more than 
thirty (30) days, or both. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate 



- DRAFT -  
offense. Nothing contained herein shall prevent the Town of Surfside Beach from taking such 
other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy a violation.  

Sec. 14-11. - Definition interpretation. 

Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this chapter shall be interpreted so as 
to give them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this chapter it's most 
reasonable application.  

Sec. 14-12. - Definitions. 

Accessory structure or use. A structure or use which is located on the same parcel of property as 
the principal structure and the use of which is incidental to the use of the principal structure. 
Detached garages, carports, storage sheds, and swimming pools are common urban accessory 
structures or uses.  

Addition (to an existing building). An extension or increase in the floor area or height of a 
building or structure. Additions to existing buildings shall comply with the requirements for new 
construction, unless the addition, renovation or reconstruction to any building that was 
constructed prior to the initial flood insurance study for that area, and the addition, renovation or 
reconstruction does not equal forty eight (48) percent of the present tax value of the structure or 
certified appraisal. Where a fire wall, load-bearing or exterior wall is provided between the 
addition and the existing building, the additions(s) shall be considered a separate building and 
must comply with the standards for new construction. Compliance with mandatory building or 
zoning codes is also required.  

Agricultural structure. A structure used solely for agricultural purposes in which the use is 
exclusively in connection with the production, harvesting, storage, drying, or raising of 
agricultural commodities, including the raising of livestock. Agricultural structures are not 
exempt from the provisions of this chapter.  

Appeal. A request for a review of the local administrator's interpretation of any provision of this 
chapter.  

Area of shallow flooding. A designated AO or VO zone on a community's flood insurance rate 
map (FIRM) with base flood depths of one (1) to three (3) feet where a clearly defined channel 
does not exist, where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate, and where velocity 
flow may be evident.  

Base flood. The flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given 
year. 

Basement. Means any enclosed area of a building which is below grade on all sides.  

Building. See structure 

Coastal high hazard area. An area of special flood hazard extending from offshore to the inland 
limit of the primary frontal dune along an open coast and any other area subject to velocity wave 
action from storms or seismic sources V, VE, or V130. 



- DRAFT -  
Coastal A Zone. area landward of a V, VE, or V130 Zone where the principal source of flooding 
will be astronomical tides, storm surges or tsunamis, not riverine flooding. During base flood 
conditions, the potential for breaking wave heights between 1.5 feet and 3.0 feet will exist. Areas 
considered to be within the Coastal A Zone are shown on maps available in the Planning, 
Building and Zoning Department and can be distributed. 

Critical  facility. A structure or other improvement that, because of its function, size, service 
area, or uniqueness, has the potential to cause serious bodily harm, extensive property damage, 
or disruption of vital socioeconomic activities if it is destroyed or damaged or if its functionality 
is impaired. Critical facilities include but are not limited to fire stations, police stations, hospitals, 
residential health care facilities, electrical transmission switching stations and distribution 
substations, main telephone switching office, and hazardous materials storage sites.  Sanitary 
sewer pump stations are not considered a critical facility for the purpose of this chapter. 

Development. Any manmade change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not 
limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or 
drilling operations, or storage of equipment or materials.  

Elevated building. A non-basement building built to have the lowest floor elevated above the 
ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls, pilings, columns, piers, or shear 
walls parallel to the flow of water.  

Existing construction. Means, for the purposes of determining rates, structures for which the start 
of construction commenced before the initial FIRM date, or before January 1, 1975, for FIRMs 
effective before that date.  

Existing manufactured home park or manufactured home subdivision. A manufactured home 
park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for services the lots on which the 
manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, and either final site-grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is completed 
before February 5, 1980.  

Expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision. The preparation of additional 
sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are 
to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final 
site-grading or the pouring of concrete slabs.)  

Flood. A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land 
areas from the overflow of inland or tidal waters, or the unusual and rapid accumulation of 
runoff of surface waters from any source.  

Flood hazard boundary map (FHBM). An official map of a community issued by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, where the boundaries of the areas of special flood hazard have 
been identified.  

Flood insurance rate map (FIRM). An official map of a community, on which the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency has delineated both the areas of special flood hazard and the 
risk premium zones applicable to the community.  



- DRAFT -  
Flood insurance study. The official report provided by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency. The report contains flood profiles, as well as the flood boundary floodway map and the 
water surface elevation of the base flood.  

Flood-resistant material. Any building material capable of withstanding direct and prolonged 
contact (minimum seventy-two (72) hours) with floodwaters without sustaining damage which 
requires more than low-cost cosmetic repair. Any material which is water soluble or is not 
resistant to alkali or acid in water, including normal adhesives for above-grade use, is not flood-
resistant. Pressure-treated lumber or naturally decay-resistant lumber are acceptable flooring 
materials. Sheet-type floor coverings which restrict evaporation from below and materials which 
are impervious, but dimensionally unstable are not acceptable. Materials which absorb or retain 
water excessively after submergence are not flood-resistant. Please refer to Technical Bulletin 2-
93, Flood-Resistant Materials for Buildings Located in Special Flood Hazard Areas in 
Accordance with the National Flood Insurance Program, document number FIA-TB-2, date 4/93, 
and available from the Federal Emergency Management Agency. Class 4 and 5 materials, 
referenced therein, are acceptable flood-resistant materials.  

Flood vent.  A permanent opening in a wall that allows the free passage of water automatically in 
both directions without human intervention.   

Floodway. The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be 
reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface 
elevation more than one (1) foot.  

Freeboard: a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of 
floodplain management. "Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that 
could contribute to flood heights greater than the height calculated for a selected size flood and 
floodway conditions, such as wave action, bridge openings, and the hydrological effect of 
urbanization of the watershed. 

Functionally dependent facility. A facility which cannot be used for its intended purpose unless it 
is located or carried out in close proximity to water such as a fishing pier, docking or port facility 
necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, shipbuilding, ship repair, or 
seafood processing facilities. The term does not include long term storage, manufacture, sales, or 
service facilities.  

Highest adjacent grade. The highest natural elevation, as certified by a registered land surveyor 
or engineer or architect, of the ground surface next to the proposed exterior walls of a structure.  

Historic structure. Any structure that is:  

(a) Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the 
U.S. Department of the Interior (DOI) or preliminary determined by the Secretary of the 
Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing on the National Register;  

(b) Certified or preliminarily, determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to 
the historical significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily 
determined by the Secretary [of the Interior] to qualify as a registered historic district;  

(c) Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places; and 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOLICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIVOFEM_DIV1GE.html%23VOLICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIVOFEM_DIV1GE_S2-93INMUOFEM
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOLICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIVOFEM_DIV1GE.html%23VOLICOOR_CH2AD_ARTIVOFEM_DIV1GE_S2-93INMUOFEM


- DRAFT -  
(d) Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with historic 

preservation programs that have been certified:  

(1) By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of Interior; or 

(2) Directly by the Secretary of Interior in states without approved programs. 

Some structures or districts listed on the state or local inventories may not be "historic" as cited 
above, but have been included on the inventories because it was believed that the structures or 
districts have the potential meeting the historic structure criteria of the DOI. In order for these 
structures to meet NFIP historic structure criteria, it must be demonstrated and evidenced that the 
South Carolina Department of Archives and History has individually determined that the 
structure or district meets DOI historic structure criteria.  

Limited storage (enclosures). An area used for storage and intended to be limited to incidental 
items which can withstand exposure to the elements and have low flood damage potential. Such 
an area must be of flood-resistant or breakaway material, void of utilities except for essential 
lighting and cannot be temperature controlled. If the area is located below the base flood 
elevation in an A, AE and A1-A30 zones, it shall meet the requirements of subsection 14-
18(4)(b) of this chapter. No storage or enclosures shall be permitted below the base flood 
elevation in a V, VE and V1-V30 and Coastal A zone. 

Lowest floor. The lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area. Any unfinished or flood-resistant 
enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage in an area other than 
a basement area, is not considered a building's lowest floor, provided such an enclosure is not 
built so as to render the structure in violation of other provisions of this chapter.  

Manufactured home. A structure, transportable in one (1) or more sections, which is built to 
HUD standards on a permanent chassis and designed to be used with or without a permanent 
foundation when connected to the required utilities. The term "manufactured home" does not 
include a "recreational vehicle" or a South Carolina Building Code Council approved "modular 
home".  

Manufactured home park or subdivisions. A parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into 
two (2) or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.  

Mean sea level. Means, for the purpose of this ordinance, the Nations Geodetic Vertical Datum 
(NGVD) of 1929, North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988, or other datum, to which 
the base flood elevations shown on a community’s Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) are 
shown. 

National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD). As corrected in 1929, elevation reference points set 
by National Geodetic Survey based on mean sea level.  

North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988 – vertical control, as corrected in 1988, unused 
as the reference datum on Flood Insurance Rate Maps. 

New Construction. Structure for which the start of the construction commenced on or after 
February 5, 1980.  The term also includes any subsequent improvements to such a structure.  

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST


- DRAFT -  
New manufactured home park or subdivision. A manufactured home park or subdivision for 
which the construction of the facilities services the lots on which the manufactured homes are to 
be affixed (including at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and 
either final site grading or the pouring of concrete slabs) is completed on or after February 5, 
1980.  

Non-Conversion Agreement: An agreement signed by the owner as a condition of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.  The owner must agree to not alter the building at a later date so as to violate the 
building code or flood damage prevention ordinance requirements.  The agreement shall be 
binding upon heirs, grantees, successors and assigns of parties hereto and shall constitute a 
covenant running with the structure being constructed under said permit.  The agreement shall be 
recorded in the Horry County Register of Deeds prior to obtaining a Certificate of Occupancy 
inspection. 

North American Vertical Datum (NAVD). Datum point established at Pointe-au-Pere on the St. 
Lawrence River, Quebec Province, Canada, based on the mass or density of the earth. The datum 
listed as the reference datum on flood insurance rate maps should be used for elevation 
certificate and floodproofing certificate completion.  

Primary frontal dune. A continuous or nearly continuous mound or ridge of sand with relatively 
steep seaward and landward slopes immediately landward and subject to erosion and overtopping 
from high tides and waves during coastal storms. The inland limit of the primary frontal dune 
occurs at the point where there is a distinct change from relatively steep slope to a relatively mild 
slope.  

Recreational vehicle. A vehicle which is:  

(a) Built on a single chassis; 
(b) Four hundred (400) square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal 

projection; 
(c) Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and 
(d) Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling, but as temporary living quarters 

for recreation, camping, travel, or seasonal use.  
 
Special Flood Hazard Area. The area that will be inundated by the flood event having a 1-
percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year. The 1-percent annual chance 
flood is also referred to as the base flood or 100-year flood. SFHAs are labeled as Zone A, Zone 
AO, Zone AH, Zones A1-A30, Zone AE, Zone A99, Zone AR, Zone AR/AE, Zone AR/AO, 
Zone AR/A1-A30, Zone AR/A, Zone V, Zone VE, and Zones V1-V30 and Coastal A. 

Start of construction. For other than new construction or substantial improvements under the 
Coastal Barrier Resources Act (P.L. 97-348), includes substantial improvement, and means the 
date of the building permit was issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or improvement was within one hundred eight (180) days 
of the permit date. The actual start means the first placement of permanent construction of a 
structure (including a manufactured home) on a site, such as the pouring of slabs or footings, 
installation of piles, construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation or the 
placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include 
land preparation, such as clearing, grading, and filling; nor does it include the installation of 
streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for footings, piers or foundations, or the 



- DRAFT -  
erection of temporary form; nor does it include the installation on the property of accessory 
buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main 
structure. For substantial improvement, the actual start of the construction means the first 
alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building, whether or not that 
alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.  

Structure. A walled and roofed building, a manufactured home, including a gas or liquid storage 
tank or other manmade facility, accessory or appurtenance that is principally above the ground. 
For the purpose of this chapter, swimming pools and solid fencing shall also be included as a 
structure.  

Substantial damage. Damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring 
the structure to it’s before damaged conditions would equal or exceed forty eight (48) percent of 
the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. Such repairs may be undertaken 
successively and their costs counted cumulatively. Please refer to the definition of "substantial 
improvement."  

Substantial improvement. Any repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other 
improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds forty eight (48) percent of the 
tax or certified appraised value of the structure before the start of construction of the 
improvement. This term includes structures which have incurred substantial damage, regardless 
of the actual repair work performed. Permits shall be cumulative for a period of five (5) years.  If 
the improvement project is conducted in phases, the total of all cost associated with each phase, 
beginning with the issuance of the first permit, shall be utilized to determine whether “substantial 
improvement” will occur.  The term does not however, include:  

(1) Any project of improvement to a structure to correct existing violations of state or local 
health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local 
code enforcement official, and safety code specifications which have been identified by 
the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe 
living conditions (does not include Americans with Disabilities Act compliance 
standards); or  

(2) Any alteration of a historic structure provided that the alteration will not preclude the 
structure's continued designation as a historic structure. Permits shall be cumulative for a 
period of five (5) years (ordinary minor repairs do not count towards cumulative permit 
totals). If the improvement project is conducted in phases, the total of all costs associated 
with each phase, beginning with the issuance of the first permit, shall be utilized to 
determine whether "substantial improvement" will occur.  

Variance. The grant of relief from a term or terms of this chapter.  

Violation. The failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with these 
regulations.  

Sec. 14-13. - Designation of local administrator. 

The Planning, Building and Zoning Director or his/her designee is hereby appointed to 
administer and implement the provisions of this chapter.  



- DRAFT -  
Sec. 14-14. - Development permit and certification requirements. 

Application for a development permit shall be made to the local administrator on forms furnished 
by the town prior to any development activities. The development permit may require, but not be 
limited to, plans in duplicate drawn to scale showing: the nature, location, dimensions, and 
elevations of the area in question; existing or proposed structures; and the location of storage 
areas, and drainage facilities. Specifically the following information is required:  

(1) A certified survey providing the following information: 
a. Scale and north orientation arrow; 
b. Parcel boundaries and the location and names of adjacent streets; 
c. All watercourses on the parcel; 
d. All floodplain, AE, V, VE, or V130, Coastal A-Zone, and floodway boundaries 

that run through the parcel certified by a registered land surveyor or professional 
engineer with the FIRM Map number and date the map was enacted; 

e. Flood boundaries/zones must be certified accurate with latest adopted flood map 
information included; 

f. All required buffer or setback lines from shoreline or channel banks; 
g. All drainage and utility easements; 
h. All areas to be cleared, cut or graded; 
i. The location of existing and proposed fences, walls and other structures; 
j. Show the 100-year floodplain contour or a statement certifying that the entire lot 

is within the floodplain must be provided by the development permit applicant 
when the lot is within or appears to be within the floodplain as mapped by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency or the floodplain identified pursuant to 
either subsection 14-15(6) or section 14-20.  

k. The survey must be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a registered 
land surveyor or professional engineer and certified by same.  

l. If the permit includes a new building or an expansion of an existing building the 
plot plan or survey must show the footprint of all existing and proposed buildings 
and building additions. 

m. As a condition of receiving a building permit a complete stormwater plan with 
narrative as set forth in Chapter 14, Article III Stormwater Management ordinance 
shall be submitted and approved. This requirement shall apply to all parcels 
within the town limits.   

 (2) The survey required by section 14-14(1) must show the floodway, if any, as identified by 
the Federal Emergency Management Agency or the floodway identified pursuant to 
either subsection 14-15(6) and 14-20.  

(3) Where base flood elevation data is provided as set forth in section 14-4 or subsection 14-
15(6), the application for a development permit within the flood hazard area shall include 
an elevation certificate showing:  

 The elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the lowest floor of all new 
construction, additions and substantially improved structures) 

 (4) If no base flood elevation data is provided as set forth in section 14-4 or subsection 14-
15(6), the application for a development permit must show construction of the lowest 
floor at least three (3) feet above the highest adjacent grade.  

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-20STSUPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-14DEPECERE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-20STSUPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-15DURELOAD


- DRAFT -  
(5) Where any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a result of proposed development, 

the application for a development permit shall include: a description of the extent of 
watercourse alteration or relocation; an engineering report on the effects of the proposed 
project on the flood-carrying capacity of the watercourse and the effects to properties 
located both upstream and downstream; and a map showing the location of the proposed 
watercourse alteration or relocation.  

 (6) An elevation certificate providing floor elevation is required after the lowest floor is 
completed. As soon as possible after completion of the lowest floor and before any 
further vertical construction commences, it shall be the duty of the permit holder to 
submit to the local administrator a certification of the lowest floor, as built, in relation to 
mean sea level. Said certification shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a 
registered land surveyor or professional engineer and certified by same. Any work done 
prior to submission of the certification shall be at the permit holder's risk. The local 
administrator shall review the floor elevation survey data submitted. Deficiencies 
detected by such review shall be corrected by the permit holder immediately and prior 
additional working being permitted to proceed. Failure to submit the survey or failure to 
make said corrections required shall be cause to issue a stop work order for the project.  

(7) In Coastal high hazard areas (V, VE, or V130 or Coastal A zone), documentation from a 
professional engineer must be acquired stating the slab placed under the building is not 
connected to the foundation. 

(8) When a structure is located in zones V, VE, or V130 or Coastal A zone certification shall 
be provided from a registered professional engineer, separate from submitted plans, that 
new construction, additions or substantial improvement meets the criteria in section 14-
22. 

(9) Upon completion of the development, a registered professional engineer or land surveyor, 
whichever professional is appropriate, shall certify by elevation certificate and any other 
documentation required that subsection(8) is built in accordance with the submitted plans 
and previous predevelopment certifications.  

(10) A non-conversion agreement shall be required on all buildings within the Special Flood 
Hazard Area when the building is completed and the owner applies for a certificate of 
occupancy or a use permit. This is done after the final inspection, when the community 
confirms that the building meets all building code and flood damage prevention 
ordinance requirements.  The agreement must be recorded in the Horry County Register 
of Deeds office and a clocked copy must be returned to the town to be filed with the 
Planning, Building and Zoning Department prior to a certificate of occupancy inspection 
being made.  This requirement includes but is not limited to new construction, additions, 
substantial improvements and renovations. 

(11) For new construction and additions not located within the SFHA, an elevation certificate 
must be certified by a registered land surveyor, engineer or architect, stating the lowest 
floor of the structure is a minimum of 3 feet above the highest adjacent grade. This 
certification must be provided prior to a certificate of occupancy being issued. 

 (12) All permits issued within the SFHA (regardless of cost) must provide a recent elevation 
certificate (issued and dated within 5 years or less) if a current elevation certificate is not 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-22COHIHAARVZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-22COHIHAARVZO


- DRAFT -  
on file, before the permit can be issued.  Elevation certificate must show existing 
conditions and if additions (including new mechanical equipment) or substantial 
improvements are made a new elevation certificate will be required before a final 
inspection is made on the project. 

 (13) If the proposed project will impact the configuration of a watercourse, floodway, or base 
flood elevation for which a detailed flood insurance study has been developed, the 
applicant shall apply for and must receive approval for a conditional letter of map 
revision with the Federal Emergency Management Agency prior to actual construction.  

Sec. 14-15. - Duties and responsibilities of the local administrator. 

Duties of the local administrator shall include, but not be limited to:  

(1) Review all development permits to assure that the requirements of this chapter have been 
satisfied. 

 (2) Requirements of Federal and/or state permits – Review proposed development to assure 
that all necessary permits have been received from those governmental agencies from 
which approval is required by Federal or State law, including section 404 of the Federal 
Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C 1334. 

 (3) Watercourse alterations – 

a. Notify adjacent communities and the South Carolina Department of Natural 
Resources, Land, Water, and Conservation Division, State Coordinator for the 
National Flood Insurance Program, prior to any alteration or relocation of a 
watercourse, and submit evidence of such notification to the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency.  

b. In addition to the notifications required watercourse alterations per Section 14-15 
(3)(a), written reports of maintenance records must be maintained to show that 
maintenance has been provided within the altered or relocated portion of said 
watercourse so that the flood-carrying  capacity is maintained.  This maintenance 
must consist of a comprehensive program of periodic inspections, and routine 
channel clearing and dredging, or other related functions.  The assurance shall 
consist of a description of maintenance activities, frequency of performance, and 
the local official responsible for maintenance performance.  Records shall be kept 
on file for FEMA inspection. 

c. If the proposed project will modify the configuration of the watercourse, 
floodway, or base flood elevation for which a detailed Flood Insurance Study has 
been developed, the applicant shall apply for and must receive approval for a 
Conditional Letter of Map Revision with the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency prior to the start of construction.  

d. Within 60 days of completion of an alteration of a watercourse, referenced in the 
certification requirements of Section 14-14(5) the applicant shall submit as-built 
certification, by a registered professional engineer, to the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency. 



- DRAFT -  
(4) Floodway encroachments – Prevent encroachments within floodways unless the 

certification and flood hazard reduction provisions of Section 14-18(8) are met. 

 (5) The local administrator must ensure that a registered professional engineer shall certify 
that the design, specifications and plans for construction are in compliance with the 
provisions contained in subsections 14-22(6) and (15) of this chapter.  

(6) Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of boundaries of the areas of 
special flood hazard (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped 
boundary and actual field conditions), the administrator shall make the necessary 
interpretation. The person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given a 
reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretations as provided in this article.  

(7) When base flood elevation data or floodway data has not been provided in accordance 
with section 14-4, obtain, review, and reasonably utilize best available base flood 
elevation data and floodway data available from a federal, state, or other source, 
including data developed pursuant to section 14-21, in order to administer the provisions 
of this chapter. Data from preliminary, draft and the final flood insurance studies 
constitutes best available data from a federal, state, or other source. If an appeal is 
pending on the study in accordance with 44 CFR Ch. 1, Parts 67.5 and 67.6, the data does 
not have to be used.  

(8) When the exact location of boundaries of the areas of special flood hazards conflict with 
the current natural topography information at the site, the property owner may apply and 
be approved for a letter of map amendment (LOMA) by FEMA. A copy of the letter of 
map amendment issued from FEMA will be maintained by the local administrator in the 
permit file.  

(9) Make on-site inspections of projects in accordance with section 14-16.  

(10) Serve notices of violations, issue stop work orders, revoke permits, and take corrective 
actions in accordance with section 14-16.  

(11) Maintain all records pertaining to the administration of this chapter and make these 
records available for public inspection. 

(12) Annexations. Notify the land resources and conservation districts division, within six (6) 
months, of any annexations that include special flood hazard areas. The community must 
incorporate applicable maps from surrounding jurisdictions into this chapter within ninety 
(90) days of annexation.  

Sec. 14-16. - Administrative procedures. 

(1) Inspections of work in progress. As the work pursuant to a permit progresses, the local 
administrator or his designee shall make as many inspections of the work as may be 
necessary to ensure that the work is being done according to the provisions of the local 
ordinance and the terms of the permit. A minimum of three inspections shall be 
performed for each permitted development project in the regulated floodplain: 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-22COHIHAARVZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-21STARSHFLAOZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOLICOOR_CH1GEPR.html%23VOLICOOR_CH1GEPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-16ADPR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-16ADPR


- DRAFT -  
The first inspection is conducted when the site is staked out or otherwise marked. A 
“Construction Drawings” elevation certification is provided to the town.  The 
inspector checks that areas subject to special requirements are clearly marked on the 
ground. 

The second inspection is conducted when the lowest floor is built for a building or 
building addition.  The builder provides the town with documentation of the surveyed 
lowest floor elevation (“Building under Construction” elevation certificate).  The 
inspector checks that: 

a. The foundation or forms for the structure are correctly located on the site; 
b. Where buildings have enclosures below the base flood elevation 

(permitted in AE zones only), the location and size of the openings are as 
specified on the approved plans; and 

c. In coastal high hazard areas V, VE, V130 or Coastal A zones, slabs placed 
under the building are not connected to the foundation. 

The third inspection is conducted when the project is finished; the “Finished 
Construction” elevation certificate is submitted, and before the final building inspection.  
The inspector checks: 

a. The foundation and floor elevation have not been altered since the second 
inspection; 

b. All areas below the required elevation are constructed with materials 
resistant to flood damage and do not exceed the allowed square footage (or 
for those buildings in the V, VE, or V130 and Coastal A Zones – no areas 
are enclosed below the required elevation); 

c. Where buildings have enclosures below the base flood elevation 
(permitted in AE zones only), the location and size of the openings are 
specified on the approved plans and recorded on the elevation certificate. 

d.  All electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning, ductwork, 
and other equipment is located, elevated, or protected as specified on the 
approved plans and recorded on the elevation certificate. 

e. There has been no alteration of the ground since the second inspection or 
the ground has been graded according to the approved plans. 

(2) Stop work orders. Whenever a building or part thereof is being constructed, 
reconstructed, altered, or repaired in violation of this chapter, the administrator or his 
designee may order the work to immediately be stopped. The stop work order shall be in 
writing and directed to the person doing the work. Notification of the property owner is 
also required. The stop work order shall state the specific work to be stopped, the specific 
reasons for the stoppage, and the conditions under which the work may be resumed. 
Violation of a stop work order shall constitute a misdemeanor.  

(3) Revocation of permits. The local administrator may revoke and require the return of the 
development permit by notifying the permit holder and owner in writing, stating the 
reason for the revocation. Permits shall be revoked for any substantial departure from the 
approved application, plans, or specifications; for refusal or failure to comply with the 
requirements of state or local laws; or for false statements or misrepresentations made in 



- DRAFT -  
securing the permit. Any permit mistakenly issued in violation of an applicable state or 
local law may also be revoked.  

(4) Periodic inspections. The local administrator and each member of the inspection 
department shall have a right, upon presentation of proper credentials, to enter on any 
premises within the territorial jurisdiction of the department at any reasonable hour for 
the purposes of inspection or other enforcement action.  

(5) Violations to be corrected. When the local administrator finds violations of applicable 
state and local laws, it shall be his duty to notify the owner of the building of the 
violation. The owner shall immediately remedy each of the violations of law on the 
property he owns.  

(6) Actions in event of failure to take corrective action. If the owner of a structure or property 
shall fail to take prompt corrective action, the administrator shall give him written notice, 
by certified or registered mail, to his last known address or by personal service, that:  

(a) The building or property is in violation of the flood damage prevention article; 
(b) A hearing will be held before the local administrator at a designated place and 

time, not later than ten (10) days after the date of notice, at which time the owner 
shall be entitled to be heard in person or by counsel and to present arguments and 
evidence pertaining to the matter; and  

(c) Following the hearing, the local administrator may issue such order to alter, 
vacate, or demolish the structure, or to remove fill as appears appropriate.  

 
(7) Order to take corrective action. If, upon a hearing held pursuant to the notice prescribed 

above, the administrator shall find that the structure or development is in violation of the 
flood damage prevention article, he shall make such an order in writing to the owner, 
requiring the owner to remedy the violation within such period, not more than sixty (60) 
days, the administrator may prescribe; provided that where the administrator finds that 
there is imminent danger to life or other property, he may order that corrective action be 
taken in such lesser period that may be feasible.  

(8) Appeal. Any owner who has received an order to take corrective action may appeal from 
the order of the Surfside Beach Construction Board of Adjustments and Appeals by 
giving notice of appeal in writing to the local administrator and the clerk within ten (10) 
days following issuance of the final order. In the absence of an appeal, the order of the 
administrator shall be final. The local appeals board shall hear an appeal within a 
reasonable time and may affirm, modify and affirm, or revoke the order.  

(9) Failure to comply with order. If the owner of a structure or property fails to comply with 
an order to take corrective action from which no appeal has been taken, or rails to comply 
with an order of the appeals board following an appeal, they shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and shall be punished in the discretion of the court.  

Sec. 14-17. - Flood hazard reduction standards. 

Development may not occur in the special flood hazard floodplain where alternative locations 
exist due to inherent hazards and risks involved. Before a permit is issued, the applicant shall 
demonstrate that new structures (and additions) cannot be located out of the floodplain and that 



- DRAFT -  
encroachments onto the floodplain are minimized. In all areas of special flood hazard, the 
following provisions are required:  

(1) All new construction, additions and/or substantial improvements shall conform to the 
requirements contained in the latest adopted International Building Code or International 
Residential Code, whichever is applicable and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or 
lateral movement of the structure;  

(2) All new construction, additions and/or substantial improvements shall be constructed 
with flood-resistant materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage;  

(3) All new construction, additions and/or substantial improvements shall be constructed by 
methods and practices that minimize flood damages; 

(4) Electrical, ventilation, plumbing, heating and air conditioning equipment (including 
ductwork), and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located at least three (3) 
feet above the required base flood elevation so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within or on the components during conditions of flooding. This 
requirement does not preclude the installation of outdoor faucets for shower heads, hoses, 
etc., as long as cutoff devices and backflow devices are installed to prevent 
contamination of the service components and thereby minimize any flood damages to a 
structure and contents;  

(5) Gas containers shall be elevated and anchored at least three (3) feet above the base flood 
elevation or buried below grade and anchored to a reinforced concrete footing;  

(6) All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or 
eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system;  

(7) New and replacement sanitary sewer shall be designed to minimize or eliminate 
infiltration of floodwaters into the system and discharges from the systems into 
floodwaters;  

(8) On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to 
them or contamination from them during flooding; and  

 (9) Any alteration, repair, reconstruction, addition or improvement to a structure which is in 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter, shall meet the requirements of "new 
construction" as contained in this chapter. This includes post-FIRM development and 
structures.  

(10) Nonconforming structures or uses. Nonconforming structures or uses may not be 
enlarged, replaced, or rebuilt unless such enlargement or reconstruction is accomplished 
in conformance with the provisions of this chapter. Use of nonconforming ground floor 
habitable spaces or walls for an addition of a second floor above the base flood elevation 
shall not be allowed.  

(11) Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). A building must meet the specific standards for 
floodplain construction outlined in section 14-18, as well as any applicable ADA 
requirements. The ADA is not justification for issuing a variance or otherwise waiving 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST


- DRAFT -  
these requirements. Also, the cost of improvements required to meet the ADA provisions 
shall be included in the costs of the improvements for calculating substantial 
improvement.  

(12) All new construction, additions and/or substantial improvements shall be designed and 
sealed by a registered design professional as complying with the requirements of the 
latest adopted International Building Code or International Residential Code, whichever 
is applicable. 

(13)  Slab construction (including raised slabs) shall be prohibited within all special flood 
hazard areas (SFHA). 

(14) Fill:  The use of fill shall be prohibited.  This includes not approving Conditional Letters 
of Map Revision based on Fill (CLOMR-F or LOMR-F).   

(15) Filling may be allowed only where needed to protect or restore natural floodplain 
functions, such as part of a channel restoration project. 

(16) Flood proofing as a flood protection measure shall be prohibited. All structures 
(including non-residential) shall be required to elevate to the base flood elevation plus 
three (3) feet. 

(17) New septic systems in floodplains are prohibited. 

(18) Critical Facilities: Critical facilities as defined in subsection 14-12 shall be prohibited in 
the 500-year flood zone.  (Note: The 500 year floodplain includes the entire SFHA plus 
other land that is lower than the 500 year flood elevation). 

(19) Hazardous velocities. Hydrodynamic pressure must be considered in the design of any 
foundation system where velocity waters or the potential for debris flow exists.  
Therefore, solid foundation walls shall not be permitted within any special flood hazard 
area. 

(20)     All fences crossing floodplain boundaries are subject to flood review. The most restrictive 
zone crossed by the fence will prevail. All fencing material shall be flood-resistant 
materials.  

(21)     There shall be no alteration of sand dunes which would increase potential flood damage.  

(22)     Swimming pools in Special Flood Hazard Area:  Pools located within the SFHA shall be 
built to the following standards: 

a. Swimming pools must meet all applicable requirements set forth in the Zoning 
Ordinance. 

b. Swimming pools must be sited as far away from the regulatory flood boundary as 
feasible. 

c. No above grade pools are allowed in the V, VE, or V130 or Coastal A Zone.   
d. No portion of a swimming pool structure in the V, VE, or V130 or Coastal A 

zones will be allowed more than six inches above the adjacent grade.  



- DRAFT -  
e. Fill for swimming pool construction is not allowed in any special flood hazard 

area (SFHA).  
f. Swimming pools beneath a structure in any SFHA must be flush with the natural 

grade and must be engineered certifying: 
i. The swimming pool or other obstruction will not be subject to breaking up 

or flooding out the ground and affecting the piles or columns of the 
structure; and 

ii. The swimming pool shall meet the same anchoring requirements as the 
support system of the building. 

g. Enclosures associated with any swimming pool located in the SFHA shall not be 
permitted. 

(23) Recreational vehicles. Shall not be permitted within the SFHA. 

(24)   Outdoor storage of any kind shall be prohibited within the SFHA. 

(25)    No basements shall be permitted within the town limits. 

Sec. 14-18. - Specific standards. 

In all areas of special flood hazard AE where base flood elevation data has been provided, as set 
forth in section 14-4 the following provisions are required in addition to those set forth in Section 
14-17 of this chapter:  

 (1) Residential construction. New construction, addition and substantial improvement of any 
residential structure (including manufactured homes) shall have the lowest floor elevated 
not lower than three (3) feet above the base flood elevation. No basements are permitted.  

 (2) Nonresidential construction.  

a. New construction, addition and substantial improvement of any commercial, 
industrial, or nonresidential structure (including manufactured structures) shall 
have the lowest floor elevated no lower than three (3) feet above the level of the 
base flood elevation.  

b. A registered professional engineer shall certify that the standards of this 
subsection are satisfied. Such certifications shall be provided to the official as set 
forth in subsections 14-14(6) and 14-14(9). A variance may be considered for wet 
flood proofing agricultural structures in accordance with the criteria outlined 
Article II this ordinance. Agricultural structures not meeting the criteria of Article 
II must meet the non-residential construction standards and all other applicable 
provisions of this ordinance. Structures that are flood proofed are required to have 
an approved maintenance plan with an annual exercise. This local floodplain 
administrator must approve the maintenance plan and notification of the annual 
exercise shall be provided to it.  

(3) Manufactured homes.  

(a) No manufactured homes shall be permitted, except in an existing manufactured 
home park or subdivision. A replacement manufactured home may be placed on a 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-14DEPECERE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-14DEPECERE


- DRAFT -  
lot in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision, provided the anchoring 
and the elevation standards of subsection 14-18(3)(c) are met. 

(b) Manufactured homes that are substantially improved on sites outside a 
manufactured home park or subdivision, or in an existing manufactured home 
park or subdivision on which as manufactured home has incurred "substantial 
damage" as a result of a flood, must be elevated on a permanent foundation such 
that the lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated no lower than three (3) 
feet above the base flood elevation and be securely anchored to an adequately 
anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and movement.  

 (c) Manufactured homes as permitted in Section 14-18(3)(a) shall be anchored to 
prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement. For the purpose of this 
requirement, manufactured homes must be anchored to resist flotation, collapse or 
lateral movement in accordance with Section 19-425.39 of the South Carolina 
Manufactured Housing Board Regulations, effective date May 25, 1990, as 
amended. Additionally, the chassis must be elevated a minimum of three (3) feet 
above the base flood elevation the chassis shall be supported by reinforced piers 
or other foundation elements at least equivalent strength.  

 (4) Elevated buildings. New construction, addition and/or substantial improvements of 
elevated buildings that include limited enclosures (allowed only in AE flood zones) in an 
area other than a basement, and which are subject to flooding shall be designed to 
preclude finished space and designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces 
on exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters.  

a. Designs for complying with this requirement must be certified by a professional 
engineer and meet the following minimum criteria:  

1. Provide a minimum of two (2) openings on different walls having a total 
net area of not less than one (1) square inch for every square foot of 
enclosed area subject to flooding;  

2. The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one (1) foot above the 
higher of the interior or exterior grade immediately under the opening, 

3. Only the portion of openings that are below the base flood elevation (BFE) 
can be counted towards the required net open area.   

4. Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other 
coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of 
floodwaters in both directions;  

b.  Enclosures Below Lowest Floor: 

1. Access to the enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary to allow for 
limited storage of maintenance equipment used in connection with the 
premises (standard exterior door) or entry to the living area (stairway or 
elevator). Total enclosed area shall not exceed 290 square feet.  No other 
enclosures shall be permitted below the required base flood elevation. 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST


- DRAFT -  
2. The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be finished or 

partitioned or finished into separate rooms, must be void of utilities except 
for essential lighting as required for safety, and cannot be temperature 
controlled.   

3. One (1) wet location switch and/or outlet connected to a ground fault 
circuit interrupt breaker may be installed below the required lowest floor 
elevation specified in subsections 14-18(1), (2) and (3).  

4. All construction materials below the required lowest floor elevation 
specified in subsections 14-18(1), (2), and (3) shall be of flood-resistant 
materials.  

5.   Enclosures of any kind shall be prohibited in the V, VE, or V130 and 
Coastal A zone except as permitted in Section 14-22 (15) of this chapter. 

c. Hazardous velocities. Hydrodynamic pressure must be considered in the design of 
any foundation system where velocity waters or the potential for debris flow 
exists. Therefore, solid foundation walls shall not be permitted.   

(5) Accessory structures. Any detached accessory structure, the cost of which is greater than 
three thousand dollars ($3,000.00), must comply with the elevated structure requirements 
of subsections 14-18(2) and (5), or constructed completely of flood-resistant materials. 
When accessory structures of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) or less are to be placed 
in the floodplain, the following criteria shall be met:  

(a) Accessory structures shall not be used for human habitation (including workshop, 
sleeping, living, cooking, or restroom areas); 

(b) Accessory structures shall be constructed of flood-resistant material designed to 
have low flood damage potential; 

(c) Accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to 
offer the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters;  

(d) Accessory structures shall be firmly anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or 
lateral movement of the structure; 

(e) Service facilities such as electrical shall be installed in accordance with 
subsection 14-17(4);  

(f) Openings to relieve hydrostatic pressure during a flood event shall be provided 
below the base flood elevation in accordance with subsection 14-18(5); and  

(g) Accessory structures shall comply with town zoning regulations. 

(h) Accessory structures shall be prohibited in the V, VE, or V130 and Coastal A 
zone. 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-17FLHAREST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST


- DRAFT -  
(6) Floodways. Located within areas of special flood hazard established in section 14-4, are 

areas designated as floodway. The floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the 
velocity of floodwaters, which carry debris and potential projectiles and has erosion 
potential. The following provisions shall be presented to the local administrator:  

(a) No encroachments, including fill or raised slab foundation, new construction, 
substantial improvements, additions, and other developments shall be permitted 
unless it has been demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses 
performed in accordance with standard engineering practice that the proposed 
encroachment would not result in any increase in the flood levels during the 
occurrence of the base flood. Such certification and technical data shall be 
presented to the local administrator. Raised slab foundation may be utilized in 
floodways only when no other practical alternative exists.  

(b) If subsection 14-18(6) is satisfied, all new construction and substantial 
improvements shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions.  

(c) Stream crossing for any purpose (i.e., timber harvesting operations), if temporary, 
shall be permitted in accordance with subsection 14-18(7). Otherwise, the 
development shall comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions.  

(d) No manufactured homes shall be permitted, except in an existing manufactured 
home park or subdivision. A replacement manufactured home may be placed on a 
lot in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision, provided the anchoring 
and the elevation standards of subsection 14-18(3).  

(e) Permissible uses within floodways may include: general farming, pasture, outdoor 
plant nurseries, horticulture, forestry, wildlife sanctuary, game farm, and other 
similar agricultural, wildlife and related uses; also lawns, gardens, play areas, 
picnic grounds, hiking and horseback riding trails are acceptable uses, provided 
that they do not employ structures or fill. The uses listed in this subsection are 
permissible only if and to the extent that they do not cause any increase in base 
flood elevations.  

 (7) The use of fill shall be prohibited.   

(8) Any unauthorized or construction inconsistent with plans approved by the town will be 
required to return the area to original conditions. This requirement includes existing 
properties.  

Sec. 14-19. – Standards for areas outside of the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) 
 
Other areas of the town are subject to periodic inundation of flood waters due to acts of nature, 
stormwater drainage and other issues.  These properties, although outside of the SFHA, need to 
be protected.  The town wishes to minimize any potential lost due to periodic flooding by 
enforcing certain requirements within the 100 year and 500 year flood zones.  These flood zones 
have no base flood elevation data therefore the following requirements are to be enforced on all 
new construction and additions: 
 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-18SPST


- DRAFT -  
(1) Minimum finished floor elevation. All structures, not located in a special flood hazard 

area, shall have the lowest floor and all mechanical or electrical equipment, such as 
compressors, air conditioning units, etc., elevated no less than 36 inches above the 
highest adjacent grade of the lot. Final site grading shall insure that ponding of 
stormwater will not occur beneath the building, nearer than three feet from the building's 
perimeter or any mechanical or electrical equipment.  
 

(2) Crawl space or raised slab construction shall be used for all foundations. 

(3) Enclosed crawl space construction must be designed and certified by a professional 
engineer to meet the following minimum criteria:  

a. Provide a minimum of two (2) flood vents on different walls having a total 
net area of not less than one (1) square inch for every square foot of 
enclosed area subject to flooding;  

b. The bottom of all flood vents shall be no higher than one (1) foot above 
the higher of the interior or exterior grade immediately under the opening, 

c. Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other 
coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of 
floodwaters in both directions.  

 (4) The use of fill shall be prohibited. 

(5) The use of fill strictly prohibited except when used to fill the interior area of a raised slab. 
 
(6) Slab on grade foundations shall be prohibited. 
 
(7) The installation of outdoor faucets for shower heads, hoses, etc., are permitted as long as 

cutoff devices and backflow devices are installed to prevent contamination of the service 
components and thereby minimize any flood damages to a structure and contents;  

(8) Gas containers shall be elevated and anchored at a minimum three (3) feet above the 
highest adjacent grade or buried below grade and anchored to a reinforced concrete 
footing.  

(9)  Additions to existing structures shall meet the requirements of new construction outlined 
in this section.  This includes pre and post-FIRM development.   

Sec. 14-20. - Standards for subdivision proposals. 
 
All subdivision proposals and other proposed new development shall be consistent with the need 
to minimize flood damage and are subject to all applicable standards in these regulations. 

(1) All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical, and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage. An 
access road at or above the base flood elevation shall be provided to allow emergency 
access during flood conditions.  



- DRAFT -  
(2) All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to 

flood hazards. 

(3)       Base flood elevation data shall be provided for all subdivision proposals of 50 lots or 
more than 5 acres or greater. 

(4)       All residential subdivision proposals having 50 lots or more shall be required to provide 
an approved evacuation plan. 

Sec. 14-21. - Standards for areas of shallow flooding (AO zones). 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 14-4, are areas designated 
as shallow flooding. The following provisions shall apply within all such areas in addition to 
those requirements set forth in Section 14-17 of this chapter:  

(1) All new construction, addition and substantial improvements of residential structures 
shall have the lowest floor elevated to at least as high as the depth number specified on 
the flood insurance rate map, in feet above the highest adjacent grade. If no depth number 
is specified, the lowest floor shall be elevated at least three (3) feet above the highest 
adjacent grade.  

(2) All new construction, addition and substantial improvements of nonresidential structures 
shall: 

 Have the lowest floor elevated to at least as high as the depth number specified on 
the flood insurance rate map, in feet, above the highest adjacent grade. If no depth 
number is specified, the lowest floor shall be elevated at least three (3) feet above 
the highest adjacent grade; or  

 (3) All structures on slopes must have drainage paths around them to guide water away from 
the structures. 

(4)  The use of fill shall be prohibited.  

Sec. 14-22. - Coastal high hazard areas (V, VE, or V130 and Coastal A Zones). 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in sections 14-4 or 14-12, are areas 
designated coastal high hazard areas. These areas have special flood hazards associated with 
wave wash. The following provisions shall apply within all such areas in addition to those 
requirements set forth in Section 14-17 of this chapter:  

(1) All new construction, addition and substantial improvements shall be located landward of 
the reach of means high tide, first line of stable natural vegetation and comply with all 
applicable Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) Ocean and Coastal 
Resource Management (OCRM) setback requirements. 

(2) All buildings and structures shall be elevated so that the bottom of the lowest supporting 
horizontal member (excluding pilings or columns) is located no lower than three (3) feet 
above the base flood elevation level, with all space below the lowest supporting member 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-4LAWHCHAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-12DE


- DRAFT -  
open so as not to impede the flow of water. (See exception under number (15) of this 
section). 

(3) All buildings and structures shall be securely anchored on pilings or columns, extending 
vertically below a grade of sufficient depth and the zone of potential scour, and securely 
anchored to the subsoil strata.  

(4) All pilings and columns and the attached structures shall be anchored to resist flotation, 
collapse, lateral movement and scour due to the effect of wind and water loads acting 
simultaneously on all building components.  

(5) A registered professional engineer shall certify that the design, specifications and plans 
for construction are in compliance with the provisions contained in subsections 14-
22(3),(4), (6),(8),(12),(13) and (14) of this chapter.  

(6) The use of fill shall be prohibited.    

(7) There shall be no alteration of sand dunes, which would increase potential flood damage.  
 
(8) Any alteration, repair, reconstruction, or improvement to a structure shall not enclose the 

space below the lowest floor.  

(9) No manufactured homes shall be permitted.  

(10) Recreational vehicles shall not be permitted in coastal high hazard areas. 

(11) Accessory structures shall be prohibited.  

(12) Parking areas shall be located on a stable grade under or landward of a structure. Any 
parking surface shall consist of gravel or ROC aggregate. Concrete parking slabs shall be 
a maximum of four (4) inches in thickness, designed to break apart during storm surge 
scouring.  

(13) Electrical, ventilation, plumbing, heating and air conditioning equipment (including 
ductwork), and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located at a minimum 
three (3) feet above the lowest horizontal member so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding. This requirement 
does not preclude the installation of outdoor faucets for showerheads, hoses, etc., as long 
as cut-off devices and backflow devices are installed to prevent contamination to the 
service components and thereby minimize any flood damage to the building.  

(14) Documentation from a professional engineer must be presented to the Planning, Building 
and Zoning Department stating the slab placed under the building is not connected to the 
foundation. 

(15) Enclosures of any kind including but not limited to storage, breakaway walls (including 
non-supporting), open lattice work or insect screening shall be prohibited below the base 
flood elevation and required freeboard.  

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-22COHIHAARVZO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-22COHIHAARVZO


- DRAFT -  
Exception: Elevators shall be permitted in the V and Coastal A zones with the following 

conditions: 

a. Elevator enclosures must be designed and certified by professional engineer to 
resist hydrodynamic and hydrostatic forces as well as erosion, scour, and waves. 

b. Must comply with building, fire, electrical and mechanical code requirements. 
c. A detection system designed and certified by a professional engineer having one 

or more float switches in the elevator shaft which prevent the elevator cab from 
descending into floodwaters. 

d. Total enclosure shall be limited to 40 square feet. 
e. Electrical controls and hydraulic pumps shall meet BFE plus required freeboard. 
f. Flood damage resistant material must be used inside and outside the elevator cab. 

(See Technical Bulletin 2, Flood Damage-Resistant Materials). 
g. Electrical equipment such as electrical junction boxes and circuit and control 

panels shall be located to meet BFE plus required freeboard. 
h. Any electrical equipment installed in the hoist way below the BFE shall be 

National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA) 4 rated enclosure for 
water resistance.   

 (16) One (1) wet location switch and/or outlet connected to a ground fault circuit interrupt 
breaker may be installed below the required lowest floor elevation in residential and 
commercial construction. 

 

ARTICLE II. - VARIANCE PROCEDURES 

Sec. 14-23. - Establishment of appeals board. 
Sec. 14-24. - Right to appeal. 
Sec. 14-25. - Historic structures. 
Sec. 14-26. - Considerations. 
Sec. 14-27. - Findings. 
Sec. 14-28. - Floodways. 
Sec. 14-29. - Conditions. 
Sec. 14-30. - Effect on rights and liabilities under the existing flood damage prevention 
ordinance. 
Sec. 14-31. - Effect upon outstanding building permits. 
Sec. 14-32. - Effective date. 
Secs. 14-33—14-45. - Reserved. 
 
Sec. 14-23. - Establishment of appeals board. 

The construction board of adjustments and appeals as established by the Town of Surfside Beach 
shall hear and decide requests for variances from the requirements of this chapter.  

Sec. 14-24. - Right to appeal. 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-23ESAPBO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-24RIAP
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-25HIST
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-26CO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-27FI
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-28FL
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-29CO
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-30EFRILIUNEXFLDAPROR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-30EFRILIUNEXFLDAPROR
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-31EFUPOUBUPE
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_S14-32EFDA
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH14FLDAPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIIVAPR_SS14-33--14-45RE


- DRAFT -  
Any person aggrieved by the decision of the appeal board or any taxpayer may appeal such 
decision to court.  

Sec. 14-25. - Historic structures. 

Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic structures upon the 
determination that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's continued 
designation as a historic structure, and the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the 
historic character and design of the structure.  

(Sec. 14-26. - Considerations. 

In passing upon such applications, the appeal board shall consider all technical evaluations, all 
relevant factors, all standards specified in other sections of the article and:  

(1) The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 

(2) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage, and the safety of 
access to the property in times of flood for ordinary arid emergency vehicles;  

(3) The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect 
of such damage to the individual owner;  

(4) The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community; 

(5) The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable; 

(6) The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for 
the proposed use; 

(7) The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development, and the 
relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain management 
program for that area;  

(8) The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the 
floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site;  

(9) The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions including 
maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and 
water systems, and streets and bridges; and  

(10) Agricultural structures must be located in wide, expansive floodplain areas, where no 
other alternative location for the agricultural structure exists. The applicant must 
demonstrate that the entire farm acreage, consisting of a contiguous parcel of land on 
which the structure is to be located, must be in the special flood hazard area and no other 
alternative locations for the structure are available.  

Sec. 14-27. - Findings. 



- DRAFT -  
Findings listed above shall be submitted to the appeal board, in writing, and included in the 
application for a variance. Additionally, comments from the department of natural resources, 
land resources and conservation districts division, state coordinator's office, must be taken into 
account an included in the permit file.  

Sec. 14-28. - Floodways. 

Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels 
during the base flood discharge would result.  

Sec. 14-29. - Conditions. 

Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purposes of this chapter, the appeal board 
may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to further the 
purposes of this chapter. The following conditions shall apply to all variances:  

(1) Variances may not be issued when the variance will make the structure in violation of 
other federal, state, or local laws, regulations or ordinances.  

(2) Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum 
necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief.  

(3) Variances shall only be issued upon a showing of good and sufficient cause, a 
determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship, and 
a determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, 
additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create a nuisance, cause 
fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing laws or ordinances.  

(4) Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice specifying the 
difference between the base flood elevation and the elevation to which the structure is to 
be built and a written statement that the cost of flood insurance will be commensurate 
with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest floor elevation. Such 
notification shall be maintained with a record of all variance actions.  

(5) The local administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any 
variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon request.  

(6) Variances shall not be issued for any structure or development begun without proper 
permits that is not in compliance with the provisions of this chapter. Violations shall be 
corrected in accordance with subsection 14-16(5) of this chapter.  

Sec. 14-30. - Effect on rights and liabilities under the existing flood damage prevention 
ordinance. 

This chapter in part comes forward by reenactment of some of the provisions of the flood 
damage prevention ordinance enacted June 21, 1988, as amended, and it is not the intention to 
repeal but rather reenact and continue to enforce without interruption of such existing provisions, 
so that all rights and liabilities that have accrued there under are reserved and may be enforced. 
The enactment of this chapter shall not affect any action, suit, or proceeding, instituted or 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level3/VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR.html%23VOII_CH14FLDAPR_ARTIGEPR_S14-16ADPR


- DRAFT -  
pending. All provisions of the flood damage prevention ordinance of the Town of Surfside Beach 
enacted on June 21, 1988, as amended, which are not reenacted herein, are repealed.  

Sec. 14-31. - Effect upon outstanding building permits. 

Nothing herein contained shall require any change in the plans, construction, size or designated 
use of any building, structure or part thereof for which a building permit has been granted by the 
building official or his authorized agents before the time of passage of this chapter; provided, 
however, that when construction is not begun under such outstanding permit within a period of 
sixty (60) days subsequent to the passage of this chapter, construction or use shall be in 
conformity with the provisions of this chapter.  

Sec. 14-32. - Effective date. 

This chapter shall become effective upon adoption.  

Secs. 14-33—14-45. - Reserved. 

 

 
 

























 

  State of South Carolina  )   
  County of Horry   ) Resolution #14-152  
  Town of Surfside Beach )  
 

To Promote Work Place Safety 
 

Whereas, the Mayor and Town Council recognize that the prevention of 
accidents and promotion of work place safety affect employees, property, and the 
public and that promoting work place safety will enhance the operating efficiency of 
Town government; and 
 

Whereas, a proactive safety emphasis posture requires that safety training be 
provided for employees, and that sound procedures are in place to protect 
employees and equipment is of primary consideration and takes precedence over 
expediency in all operations. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Town of Surfside Beach will 
endeavor to provide a safe work environment that is free of recognized hazards through  
the establishment and implementation of safety policies and procedures, with 
subsequent amendments and additions, designed to provide protection to Town 
employees, its citizens, public and private property, and the general public. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Town of Surfside 
Beach will support compliance with all Federal and State safety regulations; provide 
and require the use of personal protective equipment by all employees; and ensure that 
all employees are advised of and understand their safety responsibilities in the 
performance of their work. 
 

BE IT SO RESOLVED. Signed, sealed and dated this 28th day of October 2014. 
 

____________________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

         
_______________________________________  ______________________________________ 
David L. Pellegrino, Mayor Pro Tempore  Robert F. Childs, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________  ______________________________________ 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council      Mary M. Mabry, Town Council 
 
________________________________________  ______________________________________ 
Ralph J. Magliette, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 
 
      Attest: 
        _________________________________ 
        Debra E. Herrmann, CMC 
        Town Clerk 



Decision Paper        Business Item 7.D. 
 
Written by:  John Adair   
      
                 
1. SUBJECT:  The Town of Surfside Beach has earmarked 3.5 million dollars in the 
Transportation Improvement Plan, for Highway 17 improvements (administered by 
GSATS). One million dollars of this is dedicated to two intersection improvements 
(traffic lights). The Infrastructure Committee met on 9/10/14, and again on 9/22/14 to 
conceptualize the needed work, and to develop the town’s vision moving forward. 
 
2. PURPOSES:  To receive Town Council’s direction for implementing the GSATS 
recommendations. 
 
3. ASSUMPTIONS:  The Town of Surfside Beach desires to improve functionality and 
aesthetics along the busiest road in Town. The conditions on this main artery reflect Surfside 
Beach as a whole to tourists, residents, retail customers, and the traveling public. If the town 
cannot present a unified vision on these improvements, we could have significant delays in 
design and implementation, and even the potential reprogramming of this money to other 
jurisdictions. 
 
4.  FACTS: 
The Infrastructure Committee of Council  has met and recommends the following 
suggestions be presented to SCDOT: 
 

• Install a traffic light at 10th Avenue South 
• Install a traffic light at 11th Avenue North or 16th Avenue North (Council consensus 

needed) 
• Eliminate center median breaks (7) on the main bed at: 

 17th Avenue North, 10th Ave North, Between 10th and 5th Avenue North (2),  
Between 5th and 2nd North, 3rd South, Between 10th and 14th South 

• Eliminate frontage road median break between 10th and 5th North 
• Extend turning lanes at: 

 10th South (north and southbound), 4th South (southbound),  
 11th North (north and southbound- contingent on light) 
 16th North (north and southbound- contingent on light) 

• Wrap all center medians with radius curb, with chutes for drainage) 
• Re-surface entire project length 

 
1. Recommendation 
 
These recommendations will represent the Town’s position moving forward into the design and 
engineering stage with SCDOT and GSATS. They will increase safety, improve the roadway, 
and improve aesthetics significantly. Staff supports all of these items moving forward. 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

Highway 17 – current condition – needs curbing and resurfacing 
 



 
Proposed 10th South Light Location 



 
Proposed 11th North Light 

 
 



 
Proposed 16th North Light 



# Items Considered 9/8/2014 9/23/2014 10/21/2014
1 Recommendation for 2 free stickers per non‐residential property owner Consensus Motion Carried Consensus
2 Recommendation to remove all east side meters which totals 41 Consensus Motion Carried Consensus
3 Prohibit all parking on the east side of Ocean Blvd Not Considered Motion Carried Consensus

4
Recommendation to remove 24 meters from west side of Ocean Blvd at the corners of the 
intersections

Consensus Motion Carried Consensus

5 Remove all meters on Ocean Blvd. except those between 16th and 17th Avenues and to allow parking Not Considered Motion Carried Consensus
6 Allow permit parking only on Ocean Blvd. Not Considered Not Considered Consensus
7 Recommendation for a 1 year trial of 100 passes @$100.00 each Consensus Motion Carried Consensus
8 Recommendation to designate 7 premium beach accesses to be metered Consensus Motion Failed Failed

9 Recommendation for signs on Dogwood south between 6th and 7th and for asking SCDOT to place 
additional signs on south side of Melody extending from Ocean Boulevard to Hollywood

Consensus Motion Carried Consensus

10
Recommendation to issue parking permits for free parking at meters for participants only in the Guy 
Daniels Surfoff and all other parking rules remain in effect and are to be enforced

Consensus Motion Carried Consensus

11 Raise parking rate to $1.50 per hour in pier parking lot only Consensus Motion Carried Consensus
12 Consider adjusting the daily and weekly rates in the pier parking lot Not Considered Not Considered Failed
13 Consider removing the parking wayfinding signs on Highway 17 Not Considered Not Considered Consensus
14 Remove meters on Seaside Drive and allow free parking Not Considered Not Considered Consensus
15 Place signage in all parking lots that states where additional parking is located Not Considered Not Considered Consensus
16 Residents continue to receive free parking stickers Not Considered Not Considered Consensus
17 Reduce rates to 1$ per hour in 13th Ave. South and 16th‐17th Ave. North parking lots Not Considered Not Considered Failed


	10282014_tc_agenda_7aii_14_0788_amend_floodplain_management.pdf
	Chapter 14 - FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION
	ARTICLE I. - GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE II. - VARIANCE PROCEDURES



